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Utmost good faith between insurer and insured has been recognised for 

time immemorial as being a relationship which should be honoured. The 

benefits that both parties can derive can only occur if they are totally 

honest with and supportive of one another, thereby leading to a mutually 

beneficial relationship. Utmost good faith also exists in nature. We give 

some examples in the hope that our focus on symbiotic relationships 

will encourage both parties to the contract of insurance to aspire to the 

principles captured by the notion of acting in utmost good faith.

Theme

To resolve short-term insurance complaints fairly, efficiently and impartially.

Mission

Red Billed Oxpecker
Oxpeckers glean ectoparasites 
from ungulates and thus provide an 
invaluable service to these mammals. 
Pale-winged Starlings, which are 
close relatives of oxpeckers, have 
been recorded to glean parasites off 
Klipspringers.
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Report from the Chairman of the Board

1.   2012 was another eventful year for the office, a recurring theme when one looks back 

at the chairman’s report for prior years. Events of particular significance involved the 

implementation of two of the three Special Resolutions passed by the members at the 

Annual General Meeting (AGM) in 2011 and the arrival of a new Ombudsman at the 

beginning of January 2012:-

 1.1   FSOS Council approval was finally obtained enabling the expansion of the board from 

nine to eleven members. The additional two members are independent of both the 

insurance industry and of consumer interest groups, the intention being to manage 

the perception that the insurance industry controls the office of the Ombudsman. I 

have had the honour of being appointed the chairman of the reconstituted board and 

Mr Richard Steyn was appointed as the additional independent director. Mrs Lillibeth 

Moolman and Mr Gari Dhombo did not make themselves available for re-election.  

We thank them for their valuable contribution over many years. Mr Paul Crankshaw 

of the National Consumer Forum was appointed as a director representing consumer 

interests. Mr Robert Semenya was appointed as one of the insurer representatives 

on the board. The board now consists of two independent directors, four directors 

representing the insurance industry, four directors representing consumers and a 

representative from the Financial Services Board (FSB).

WENDY KNOWLER Vice-ChairmanJOHN MYBURGH Chairman
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 1.2   In regard to the proposed appeal mechanism, the FSOS 

Council has approved all the finer details relating to the 

proposal. However, since the approval given by FSOS 

Council differed in certain respects from what was 

envisaged in the special resolution passed in 2011, it will 

be necessary to revert to members at the 2013 AGM 

to approve the changes required by the FSOS Council. 

It is anticipated that the appeal mechanism will become 

effective shortly thereafter. 

2.   2012 proved to be a difficult year for the insurance industry 

as a result of catastrophic events involving extreme adverse 

weather conditions such as floods in Mpumalanga and 

Limpopo and hailstorms in Gauteng.  The St Francis Bay 

fire was another catastrophic event. Nevertheless these 

events did not cause a substantial increase in complaints 

received by the OSTI office.  It is interesting to note media 

reports suggesting that short-term insurers may need to 

invest in technology to forecast bad weather patterns in 

order to reduce claims.  What is envisaged is the increased 

use of telematics in order to enhance communications 

between insurer and insured in order to alert the insured 

of adverse weather conditions and in so doing reduce the 

risk of damage.  According to an insurance analysis by Price 

Waterhouse Coopers the short-term insurance industry 

incurred catastrophic losses of close to R2bn in 2012.

3.   I am pleased to refer to the marked improvement in 

the operational efficiency of the office during 2012 and 

attention is directed to the statistics more fully referred 

to by the Ombudsman in his report. On the regulatory 

front, the move to the now well-known “Twin Peaks” 

concept continues. Of direct relevance to the office of the 

Ombudsman is the suggestion that all existing Ombudsman’s 

schemes be absorbed into and be under the jurisdiction of 

a single Ombudsman. This office has reservations about the 

concept and hopes to engage in constructive discussions 

with the relevant authorities on the issue.

4.   In conclusion, I would like to thank all my fellow Directors 

and the staff of the Ombudsman’s office for the assistance 

given to me during my first few months year in office. My 

job has been made considerably easier by the high level of 

corporate governance maintained by the Board, the Board 

executive committee, the audit committee, external and 

internal auditors and the staff. As a consequence of these 

high standards, the financial position of the company remains 

sound. Close attention is paid to the management of risk. 

Under the watchful eye of our audit committee a detailed 

risk assessment document is constantly under review in 

order to deal with the changing risk environment. 

5.   The impression which I have gained after my initial short 

period in office is that the objectives of the scheme and 

the FSOS Act are being achieved and that we will be able 

to continue to do so effectively, whatever the change in 

regulatory environment may hold for us in future.

John Myburgh SC
25 March 2013  

Report from the Chairman of the Board
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Clownfish and anemones 
The Clownfish are one of a few species that do not get stung by sea anemones.  They release special mucus that causes the 
anemones not to release their stings.  The Clownfish uses the anemone for protection but lures larger fish to the anemones. 



      

1.  In accordance with the Terms of Reference I hereby submit the Ombudsman’s Annual 

Report for 2012, this being my first year in office.  However, this is the second report 

which I have prepared as I also prepared the 2011 report which dealt with events prior 

to my arrival at the Ombudsman’s office.  
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2.   At the beginning of 2012 a comprehensive Financial 

Services Laws General Amendment Bill was published 

for public comment and, in the near future, many of the 

provisions contained in the bill will probably be enacted 

into law, many in amended form.  This is in pursuance 

of the so-called “Twin Peaks” policy whereby the 

market conduct of financial services providers will be 

supervised by the Financial Services Board and financial 

solvency issues will be under the watchful eye of the 

National Treasury.  The move to the Twin Peaks regime 

is complicated and time-consuming and it is uncertain 

when the migration to the new system will be completed 

through the legislative process.  As far as the office of 

the Ombudsman is concerned, it has been mooted that 

all Ombudsman Schemes should in future fall under the 

umbrella of a centralised, single, Ombudsman with all 

governance issues being handled by the Chief Executive 

Officer of such centralised Ombudsman’s office, leaving 

only dispute resolution functions to be determined by 

the sectoral Ombuds.  Alternatively it has been suggested 

that there be “additional oversight” by the FSOS Council 

into the operations of the financial sector Ombuds as 

currently constituted.  These proposals have been under 

consideration by the relevant authorities for some time 

and it would appear that there will probably be some 

major changes in the way that Ombudsman’s offices are 

to be structured in future.  Unfortunately very few details 

have been made available by the authorities.  Our office 

has expressed reservations about the advisability of the 

single Ombud proposal but has fewer reservations about 

additional oversight by the FSOS Council.  The position will 

hopefully be clarified during 2013.

3.   A concern of some is the perceived lack of independence 

of this office from the insurance industry.  This concern 

appears to be based on the fact that the office is ultimately 

financed by insurers and that as a consequence thereof, 

the industry is able to exercise undue influence on the 

operations of the office.  The funding model employed 

by the office has been held by successive Boards to be 

the most appropriate.  It is simply based upon a charge 

being made to an insurer for each complaint lodged by 

a dissatisfied policyholder against the particular insurer.  

In other words, the more complaints that are lodged 

against an insurer, the more that insurer contributes to the 

finances of the office.  During 2012 the fee per complaint 

was R2,800 which has been increased to R3,000 per 

complaint with effect from the 1st January 2013.   

4.   In January 2012, my term of office began on a somewhat 

uncomfortable note as a consequence of adverse 

press reports involving the circumstances in which my 

predecessor’s fixed term contract was not renewed upon 

expiry.   Although I was not directly involved, it initially had 

a somewhat unsettling effect on the office environment 

which however, I am glad to report, soon returned to 

normal.  A report commissioned by the Minister of Finance 

into the circumstances which led to the non-renewal of 

my predecessor’s contract has, to date, not been released.  

I have experienced no interference either by the insurance 

industry or consumer interest groups in the exercise of my 

independent function as adjudicator.

Appeal Mechanism

5.  As previously reported, an appeal mechanism against 

rulings of this office was authorised at the Annual General 

Meeting of members in 2011.  However, this was subject 

to the ultimate approval of the FSOS Council which had 

various queries and concerns in relation to certain details 

of the proposal.  At the end of 2012, final approval was 

obtained from the FSOS Council, but the changes required 

by the Council must be referred back to the Annual 

General Meeting of members to be held in July 2013.  

Until these procedural steps have been attended to, the 

appeal mechanism cannot be implemented.  However, it is 

anticipated that the appeal mechanism will be implemented 

during the second half of 2013.

Directors

6.  During 2011 members also decided to expand the Board 

by the appointment of two independent Directors, one of 

whom was to become the Chairman.  This will be more 

fully commented upon by the Chairman in his report.

Transparency

7.  At the 2011 Annual General Meeting it was also agreed 

that henceforth, in the interests of greater transparency, 

Report by the Ombudsman
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statistics on the workings of the office would be published 

in respect of insurers by name.  However as is more fully 

explained in the ‘Explanatory Notes’ which precede these 

statistics in this report, the statistics are to be interpreted 

with some caution.  Nevertheless, on balance, the decision 

to be more transparent should be seen as a positive 

development.  Consistent with the aforegoing, insurers will 

now be named on our website publications although the 

identity of complainants will remain confidential.  

Core Function of the Office

8.  We should constantly remind ourselves that the core 

function of this office is to resolve disputes involving 

repudiated insurance claims.  We should be seen as a 

consumer watchdog to ensure that fair play prevails.  

However in order to maintain our unbiased, impartial role, 

we should not become consumer activists. Likewise we are 

not a spokesman for the insurance industry.  We obviously 

play an important role in regard to dispute resolution as is 

evidenced by the statistics detailing the operations of the 

office to be found elsewhere in this report.  The procedure 

which is followed by the office in adjudicating disputes can 

be described as an investigative enquiry which should 

not be equated with a judgment of a court of law.  Our 

procedures do not provide for the leading of oral evidence 

and cross-examination and the hearing of legal argument 

by skilled legal practitioners.  Our procedure is and must 

be informal and cost effective.  

Operations of the Office

9.  At the beginning of the year there were 51 members of 

the Ombudsman’s office representing about 95% of the 

total premium income of the whole short-term insurance 

sector.  A number of smaller, niche insurers have decided 

not to be a member of the Ombudsman’s office.  Prior 

to my arrival, complaints against non-members were 

occasionally accepted but I have decided that the office will 

no longer deal with complaints against non-members.  The 

numbers that are involved are insignificant and has had no 

material effect on the number of complaints received by 

the office. 

10.  Certain press commentators and academics have criticised 

the whole notion of the Ombudsman’s movement on the 

basis that it leads to uncertain outcomes as a consequence 

of the application of equity.  However, what should not 

be overlooked is that the application of equity is almost 

invariably favourable to the consumer.  Furthermore, the 

procedure is entirely voluntary and complainants do not 

have to make use of the services of any Ombudsman’s 

offices.  They are always at liberty to seek redress through 

the courts and indeed no ruling of the Ombudsman’s 

office binds any complainant although it does bind an 

insurer.  

Participation in Industry Bodies

11.  A formal South African Insurance Association (SAIA) / 

Ombudsman’s Liaison Committee has been established.  

This meets on a quarterly basis where matters of mutual 

interests are discussed.  This has proved to be a most 

useful forum as a communication channel between the 

office and the insurance industry.

12.  Representatives of the office also served on the Financial 

Services Board (FSB’s) Consumer Education Committee, 

on the National Treasury’s Treating Customers Fairly 

Work-stream Committee and also on the National 

Treasury Micro-insurance Committee.  

13.  I have been appointed the Chairman of the SAIA Complaints 

Committee which deals with general complaints lodged 

against insurance companies.  This committee does not 

deal with disputed claims.  In this capacity I chaired the 

committee in dealing with two separate complaints during 

the year and appropriate rulings were made. 

14.  As already mentioned, the Ombudsman is mandated to 

apply both law and equity in resolving insurance disputes.  

I presented a detailed paper to the National Insurance 

Conference at Sun City in June 2012 on my approach 

to equity.  However, the contents of this presentation fall 

outside of the scope of this report.  
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Liaison with other Ombudsmen

15.  Although no formal structure exists, I have had regular 

contact with the Ombudsman for Long-Term Insurance, 

Judge Brian Galgut, the Banking Ombudsman, Advocate 

Clive Pillay and the Credit Ombudsman, Advocate  

Manie van Schalkwyk.  I have found the communications 

between my fellow Ombudsmen to be particularly helpful 

and constructive.

Office Statistics

16.  At the Sun City conference I commented that the average 

turnaround time of 223 days as experienced in 2011 was 

a concern and that we hoped to bring about a reduction in 

this figure.  The “turnaround time” refers to the time it takes 

our office to resolve a dispute.  Attention is directed to the 

graphs showing key statistics of the office from which it 

will be established that the average turnaround time in 

2012 was reduced to 183 days.  This may not appear to 

be an impressive improvement, but regard should be had 

to the substantial overhang of long outstanding matters 

at the beginning of 2012 which negatively affected the 

year statistics.  The pleasing, downward trend in the 

curve shows that for the second six months of 2012, the 

average turnaround time had been reduced to 158 days.  

The statistics for the first three months of 2013 show an 

average turnaround time of 133 days.

17.  A substantial improvement has also been seen in the six 

month list.  This is a list of complaints unresolved after six 

months of receipt by the Ombudsman’s office.  On the 

1st January 2012 there were 1,319 files on this list and 

as at year end, the list had been reduced to 352.  This is 

indeed a very pleasing performance and all credit is due to 

the insurers generally and to the professional staff at the 

Ombudsman’s office.  As far as the Rand value involving 

matters resolved is concerned, the “recovery” for 2012 

was R113,702,668 compared to the prior year figure 

of R117,740,245.  This continues the slow downtrend 

experienced over the last few years.  It is difficult to explain 

this because there has not been any reduction in the 

number of complaints received or resolved or a marked 

reduction in the overturn rate. 

18.  The overturn rate for the year was 33% compared to 

the two prior year figures of 35% and 38%.  Likewise this 

statistic continues to show a downward trend.  There could 

be several reasons for this, one of which is that insurers 

may possibly be treating policyholders more fairly at claims 

stage, or it may mean that more speculative claims are 

being lodged with the office of the Ombudsman, given the 

adverse economic circumstances.  In other words we may 

be experiencing a growing tendency amongst consumers 

to lodge doubtful complaints with the Ombudsman in the 

knowledge that they stand to lose nothing as they receive 

the services of the Ombudsman for free.  However, no 

firm conclusions can be reached.

19.  The number of complaints received by the office was 

9,123 and showed a small 1.7% increase over 2011.  

2012 was a particularly difficult year for insurers as a 

consequence of adverse weather conditions and fires.  

Although these major catastrophic events have affected 

the underwriting results of insurers, by year end it had 

not caused a major increase in the number of complaints 

received by our office.  As our graphs indicate, most of our 

claims still involve motor claims followed by householders 

and houseowners claims.  This is a pattern which we have 

seen for many years and remained unchanged in 2012.

Interaction with Insurers and consumer organisations

20.  One of the reasons for the substantial improvement in the 

six month list is the increase in the number of formal claims 

meetings which we have held with the insurers during the 

year.  During 2011, 50 meetings were held compared to 

96 held in 2012.  At these meetings I requested reduced 

response times from insurers and put pressure on our 

own staff to be more pro-active in ensuring the meeting of 

deadlines given to both insurers and complainants.  This has 

had a positive effect on turnaround times as is evidenced 

by the statistics.  I also advised insurers that they cannot 

be expected to be given unlimited opportunities to make 

representations to the office in support of a decision to 

repudiate.  I see no reason why an insurer should have 

more than two opportunities to present its version, 

as my expectation is that insurers should do a proper 

investigation of the claim prior to repudiation and that 

there is therefore no reason why a proper, full response 
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cannot be given at the first opportunity.  While this approach is merely a guideline 

and is applied with some flexibility should exceptional circumstances exist, it is 

something which I believe to be necessary and which is not unduly prejudicial to 

insurers.

21.  It has been my pleasure to meet with most of the Managing Directors of our 

member companies together with their senior claims officials.  Likewise I met with 

the full SAIA board to explain my approach to the resolution of disputes and I must 

record my thanks to the insurers and SAIA for the positive response to requests 

made by me to improve operational efficiencies.

22.  As far as the relatively few consumer organisations are concerned, the National 

Consumer Forum, is represented on our Board by Mr Paul Crankshaw and I 

have met with the executive of the National Consumer Union.  We have not 

received any complaints from these consumer bodies on the services provided to 

consumers by this office.

Final Rulings

23.  Apart from the statistics contained elsewhere in this report, I am now obliged 

to give details of Final Rulings made against insurers.  A Final Ruling is a final and 

binding ruling made against an insurer after all attempts at resolving the dispute 

have failed and where it is the opinion of the Ombudsman that the claim should 

be paid.  Attention is directed to the table of statistics under the heading of Final 

Rulings where the details of three Final Rulings are recorded. 

Corporate Governance

24.  Corporate Governance is an issue which is to be taken seriously.  The structures 

which ensure our compliance with the highest standards are the Board, Executive 

Committee of the Board, the Audit Committee, our internal and external Auditors 

and the FSOS Council itself.  We meet regularly with our internal auditors who 

provide assistance in identifying objectives and rate our performance in complying 

with these objectives.  Improvements have been effected during the year in 

compliance with the King III report on Corporate Governance.

FSOS Council and the Financial Services Board

25.  We are ultimately accountable to the FSOS Council with whom we liaise as and 

when necessary.  I met with the FSOS Council when I formally presented the 

Annual Report for 2011.  We are grateful to the FSOS Council for its assistance 

and co-operation throughout the year.

26.  A new liaison committee with the Financial Services Board (“FSB”) has been 

established and the plan is to meet on a quarterly basis to discuss matters of 

African Penguin
Some seabirds, such as African 
Penguins, fish together as they 
feed on large schools of pelagic 
fish, such as pilchards and 
anchovies.
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mutual interest.  One of our directors represents the FSB 

in an ex officio capacity and our thanks to the FSB should 

also be noted.

Consumer Education

27.  We are mandated in terms of the FSOS Act to involve 

ourselves in consumer education and we do so to the 

best of our ability, although I believe this can be improved 

upon.  The office does not have a full-time member of 

staff dealing with marketing and consumer education.  

This is a matter which is under review.  Nevertheless, 

with the limited resources available, several appearances 

on radio and television, written media interviews and 

presentations made at seminars have all contributed to 

educating the consumer, not only about the existence of 

the Ombudsman’s office, but also in regard to insurance 

products and issues generally.  

28.  The following gives some further details of Consumer 

Education activities pursued by the office during the year :

 28.1   We participate in the SAIA Consumer Education 

Committee activities.  Meetings are held on a monthly 

basis and we render support to this committee in its 

activities.

 28.2   We participated in the SABC Thobela FM radio series 

on four occasions.  The project was a North-Sotho 

programme where listeners directed questions to 

our representatives and answers given in relation 

to the activities of the office and insurance issues 

generally.

 28.3   We were also represented on the National 

Consumer Education Committee under the auspices 

of the National Treasury.  Three meetings were held 

during 2012 and our participation will continue in 

2013.

 28.4   We participated in the first KZN Financial Education 

Conference hosted by the Kwa-Zulu Natal Treasury.

 28.5   We were represented at and did a presentation at the 

North-West Provincial Government Department 

of Economic Development Consumer Protection 

Workshop.

 28.6   We are represented on the National Treasury Micro-

Insurance Task Team which also has a consumer 

education aspect to it.  Our representative attended 

several meetings during the year.

 28.7   The Ombudsman’s Briefcase, a publication which is 

placed on our website, is accessible to consumers 

and constitutes an important consumer educational 

tool.  The publication is also distributed to various 

people and organisations.

 28.8   We were represented at several exhibitions where 

we had organised a promotional stand.  Members 

of our staff were available to answer questions from 

the public and took part in distributing promotional 

materials with an educational slant.

 28.9   We are readily available to consumer journalists 

and enquiries from this source are welcome.  Apart 

from the good relations that we have with consumer 

journalists, they are of great assistance to us in 

educating consumers generally.

Apart from the aforegoing several other radio interviews 

on various national and regional stations were presented by 

various members of the staff.  This will be continued in 2013.

Treating Customers Fairly (“TCF”)

29.  The initiative by the National Treasury to ensure the fair 

treatment of customers is gaining traction.  We have met 

with the appropriate authorities and have given them the 

assurance of our support of the six outcomes contained in 

the latest TCF proposals.  The principles therein contained 

are entirely consistent with the concept of equity and we 

do not believe that we will have any difficulty in applying 

the TCF concepts during the adjudication process, where 

appropriate.  In our meetings with insurers we have 

encouraged them to familiarise themselves more fully, and 

give practical application to, the TCF principles and trust 

that this will be reflected in how insurers go about treating 

their customers in future.
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INFO Network

30.  I attended the Annual INFO Conference in Copenhagen 

from the 17th to 19th September 2012.  INFO is the 

acronym for the International Network of Ombudsman 

Schemes.  One of the objectives of the organisation is to 

facilitate communication between various Ombudsman 

Schemes in different jurisdictions, to discuss matters 

of mutual interest and to share information in order 

to enhance the services of Ombudsman’s Schemes 

throughout the world.  Twenty three countries were 

represented and twenty delegates from South Africa 

attended.  

31.  The first topic covered communication challenges in 

developing and in industrialised countries, particularly insofar 

as this relates to Ombudsman’s offices.  A representative 

from the World Bank dealt specifically with Africa, Asia and 

Latin America, highlighting issues of consumer vulnerability, 

literacy, trust and awareness.  Also discussed were ways 

to improve customer access, to diversify scheme usage 

and maximise consumer communications.  It need not be 

stated that communication is an essential tool to maintain 

the status of a dispute resolution scheme and as a trusted 

office to serve the general public.  The financial services 

industry was encouraged to present consumers with clear, 

honest core messages following principles of simplicity, 

responsibility, timeliness and knowledge.

32.  Another issue on the agenda was consumer education 

and literacy.  A recurring theme was the importance of 

effective financial consumer protection to restore trust 

and confidence in financial products and services which 

had suffered greatly as a result of the 2008 financial 

crisis.  A problem has arisen from a greater transfer of 

decision making, and consequently of risk, to uneducated 

individuals and households, financial product complexity, 

low consumer awareness of rights and responsibilities and 

how to access redress mechanisms.  Representatives from 

various countries explained how they go about consumer 

education.  

33.  Also discussed was the issue of Ombudsman standards 

which raised the issue of whether INFO should establish an 

agreed list of core principles, standards and fundamentals.  

This focused on Ombudsman independence and 

impartiality in particular.  It became apparent to South 

African delegates that in some foreign jurisdictions, the 

perception was that some Ombudsman Schemes lack 

independence in the mind of the investing public.  

34.  An important debate took place about the topic of 

resources necessary to fund an Ombudsman’s office and 

the productivity of the office itself.  This is particularly 

relevant, given the growing number of complaints dealt 

with by Ombudsman Schemes worldwide.  It became 

apparent that sound management and the empowering of 

an Assistant Ombudsman to take decisions are critical for 

an Ombudsman’s office to be efficient.  The leadership style 

of the Chief Ombudsman is critical in the empowerment 

of an Assistant Ombudsman in order to give him or her 

confidence to deal with issues and to avoid paralysis in the 

dispute resolution process.

35.  I am pleased to advise that the new Chairman of the 

INFO organisation is Jennifer Preiss of the office of the 

South African Ombudsman for Long-term Insurance.  The 

next annual conference is scheduled to be held in Taipei, 

Taiwan in September 2013.  There can be little doubt that 

our membership with the INFO organisation is of great 

importance and needs to be maintained.

Staff Matters

36.  The staff situation is very stable as is evidenced by the 

fact that during the year we did not lose the services 

of a single Assistant Ombudsman.  This is particularly 

important, as the experience gained by an Assistant 

Ombudsman in serving lengthy periods with the office is 

of invaluable benefit, not only to consumers but also to 

insurers and the office itself.  It was decided that it was 

unnecessary to consider further the introduction of a 

long-term staff incentive scheme in view of the stable staff 

situation.  The support staff situation also remains stable 

leading to a pleasant and relaxed working environment in 

the office.  Staff are incentivised by way of a performance 

bonus scheme which is objectively assessed and applied at  

year end.
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Isabel Jones Ukusizana Award

37.  The winner for the year 2011, announced at the launch of 

the 2011 Annual Report, was Standard Insurance Limited.  

However, the Board has decided to discontinue the award.  

The main reason for this decision is that the general 

perception is that the award is for the best insurer whereas 

the main objective of the award was to recognise the level 

of co-operation given to the office of the Ombudsman.  

Furthermore, as detailed statistics on insurer performance 

are now being published by this office for the first time this 

year, consumers will be able to draw their own conclusions 

from these statistics.

New Members

38.  During 2012 we welcomed three new members namely 

Vodacom Insurance Co Ltd, King Price Insurance and 

First for Women Insurance Co Ltd.  At year end our 

membership therefore totalled 54.  The list of member 

companies will be found elsewhere in this report.

Sharecall

39.  We continue to share a Sharecall number with the 

following, namely, the Ombudsman for Long-term 

Insurance, the Ombudsman for Banking Services, the Credit 

Ombudsman, the FAIS Ombudsman, the Pension Fund 

Adjudicator and the FSB.  This acts as a very useful point 

of single entry to anybody having a complaint involving a 

financial services product.  The call centre directs the caller 

to the appropriate Ombudsman’s office.  Accordingly this, 

to some extent, fulfils the role which a single Ombudsman’s 

office would serve.  The call centre does facilitate access to 

the correct office and eliminates confusion which may exist 

in the mind of the consumer as to which is the correct 

office he or she should be dealing with.  

Appreciation

40.  This has been my first full year in office and without 

the assistance of the OSTI Board, all the staff 

members, insurance representatives and the consumer 

representatives, the objectives of the office and the FSOS 

Act would not have been achieved.  I believe that during 

2012, these objectives have been met and hopefully can be 

improved upon going forward.  A new Board and a new 

Chairman were appointed during the year.  I express my 

appreciation to the Board and in particular, the immediate 

past Chairperson, Ms Gail Walters.  I also recognise the 

interest shown in the affairs of the office by John Myburgh 

SC, the new Chairman, during the first few months of his 

term of office.

DENNIS JOOSTE

Ombudsman for Short-Term Insurance

10 April 2013

Southern Carmine Bee-Eater
Safety by numbers is one of the 

reasons why some bird species live 
together in large colonies.

Southern Carmine Bee-Eater
Safety by numbers is one of the reasons why some bird species live together in large colonies.
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RAND VALUE OF COMPLAINTS RESOLVED IN FAVOUR OF THE INSURED

FORMAL COMPLAINTS RECEIVED (Excluding preliminary matters)

PRELIMINARY MATTERS RECEIVED
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T

Office Statistics
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TYPES OF COMPLAINTS FINAL RULINGS 2012

See paragraph 23 on Page 7 of Report by the Ombudsman

TOTAL FILES CLOSED

Y
EA

R

2007

2008

2009

2010

2011

2012

6474
7880

9375
8992

9827
10397 

Office Statistics

AVERAGE DAYS TO RESOLVE COMPLAINTS MATTERS UNRESOLVED AFTER 6 MONTHS

YEAR YEAR END
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2007 2008 20082009 20092010 20102011 20112012 2012
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322
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3
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8

97

Motor  (4415) Homeowners (2007) Householders (748)

Commercial (438) Miscellaneous (1515)

4,8% 48,4%

22,0%

8,2%

16,6%

NUMBER OF COMPLAINTS

* Non-member

21
11

20
98

19
92

13
19

35
2

INSURER POLICY TYPE

Guardrisk Insurance Co. Credit Top-up

Natsure Insurance Co. Combined Buildings

 Combined Policy

*Landbank Insurance Co. Multi-Peril Crop Policy
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Explanatory Notes

1.   The publication of statistics relating to the workings of the Ombudsman’s office is an 

innovation initiated by member companies which has been approved by the FSOS Council.  

However, the data must be understood in the correct context and it is therefore necessary 

to record some words of explanation in relation to these statistics.

Ombudsman’s limited jurisdiction

2.   The office of the Ombudsman has limited jurisdiction over commercial lines policies and, in 

any event, has jurisdiction for personal lines business only up to R2 million, save for home 

owners claims where the jurisdictional limit is R4 million. The statistics therefore focus only 

on personal lines claims (statistics provided by the Financial Services Board) and personal 

lines complaints received by this office.  Commercial lines complaints represent only 4.8% 

of total complaints to the office of the Ombudsman.   

Insurer Statistics and 
Explanatory Notes

The opposite to utmost 
good faith is to act 
in bad faith. Many 
species of cuckoo are 
masters at this. They 
parasitize the nests of 
other birds by laying 
an egg, leaving it to the 
innocent host to bring 
up the young cuckoo. 
This picture shows a 
cuckoo egg in the nest 
of a Kurrichane Thrush.
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Insurer Statistics and Explanatory Notes

3.   No adverse conclusions should be drawn against any insurer 

based purely on the number of complaints against them 

received by this office.  Larger insurers issue proportionately 

more policies which cannot form the basis of a complaint 

to this office than do smaller insurers.  Thus, for example, 

when considering the percentage of complaints received 

by this office against a large insurer, the large insurer, upon 

a superficial analysis, appears to attract a relatively low 

number of complaints. What is a more important statistic 

is the proportion of complaints to this office relative 

to an insurer’s share of the total claims reported to the 

Financial Services Board.  The clearest indicator of this is 

column 5 being the number of complaints to this office per 

thousand claims received by an insurer.  Where an insurer 

demonstrated a higher number of complaints to this office 

per thousand claims received, this may be an indicator that 

claims are dealt with unfairly by the insurer.  However, this 

statistic should be considered in conjunction with column 8 

being the overturn rate.  The overturn rate is an indicator 

that the decision of the insurer with respect to a complaint 

was changed in some respect by this office with some 

benefit to the insured.  Further comments on the overturn 

rate appear below.  

4.   Please note that a claim can be received by an insurer in 

year one and a complaint in respect of that claim may be 

received by OSTI only in year two – hence the number in 

column 3 may be greater than the number in column 1.  The 

statistics record the numbers received by insurers and the 

OSTI respectively during 2012.

5.   Also note that under column 1 certain insurers are shown by 

the FSB statistics as having received no claims during 2012.  

This may be explained on the basis of either the company 

issuing only commercial lines policies or that the company 

is dormant.  Only personal lines statistics are included in 

the table as this is what has been received from the FSB 

(columns 1 and 2)

Overturn Rate

6.   The overturn rate per insurer as shown in the table is for 

personal lines claims only.  It excludes commercial lines 

claims.  However, the overall 33% overturn rate mentioned 

in the Ombudsman’s report includes both types of claims.  If 

a high overturn rate is registered against a particular insurer, 

this may, but not necessarily, indicate that the insurer is not 

treating its customers as fairly as it should with respect to 

its decisions on claims.  However the overturn rate should 

be treated with considerable caution as a high overturn 

rate can also be indicative of a high degree of co-operation 

being received by the Ombudsman’s office from a particular 

insurer in resolving a complaint to the satisfaction of the 

customer.  The Ombudsman takes into account the following 

three circumstances in determining the Overturn Rate:

 (a)   The decision of the insurer is overturned by the 

Ombudsman.

 (b)   A resolution of the dispute has been mediated by the 

Ombudsman with the insured receiving any benefit 

which he/she would not have received without the 

involvement of the Ombudsman.

 (c)   There has been a Final Ruling in favour of the insured by 

the Ombudsman.

General

7.   Any media queries in relation to a particular insurer’s 

statistics should be directed to the insurer involved.
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INSURER STATISTICS - JANUARY 2012 to DECEMBER 2012 (PERSONAL LINES ONLY: COMMERCIAL LINES EXCLUDED) 

Absa 286 956 10,68% 836 9,56% 3/1000 1 048 370 35,31%

Ace 337 0,01% 12 0,14% 0/1000 3 2 66,67%

Alexander Forbes 50 642 1,89% 119 1,36% 2/1000 135 47 34,81%

Allianz Global 0 0,00% 0 0,00% 0/1000 0 0 0,00%

Auto & General* 220 930 8,27% 1 206 13,82% 5/1000 1 317 577 43,81%

Centriq 16 148 0,60% 258 2,95% 16/1000 316 142 44,94%

Chartis (Now AIG Insurance)**  1 359 0,05% 41 0,47% 30/1000 56 22 39,29%

Compass 16 192 0,60% 59 0,67% 4/1000 68 10 14,71%

Constantia 22 965 0,86% 74 0,85% 3/1000 76 34 44,74%

Dial Direct 47 688 1,78% 411 4,70% 9/1000 417 183 43,88%

Discovery Insure*** 12 471 0,46% 33 0,38% 3/1000 19 7 36,84%

Emerald 0 0,00% 0 0,00% 0/1000 0 0 0,00%

Etana 9 801 0,36% 39 0,45% 4/1000 34 13 38,24%

Guardrisk 148 224 5,52% 209 2,40% 1/1000 204 98 48,04%

Hollard 300 635 11,19% 626 7,17% 2/1000 783 294 37,55%

Indequity Specialised Insurance 2 001 0,07% 2 0,02% 1/1000 5 1 20,00%

Infiniti Risk Solution 22 498 0,84% 60 0,69% 3/1000 75 12 16,00%

JDG Micro 13 225 0,49% 16 0,18% 1/1000 17 11 64,71%

King Price*** 999 0,04% 11 0,13% 11/1000 1 1 100,00%

Legal Wise 27 319 1,02% 42 0,48% 2/1000 39 13 33,33%

Lloyds 390 0,01% 17 0,19% 0/1000 36 10 27,78%

Lion of Africa 2 576 0,10% 38 0,43% 15/1000 99 44 44,44%

Lombard 0 0,00% 17 0,19% 0/1000 9 2 22,22%

McSure (Now Bidvest)** 6 365 0,24% 11 0,13% 2/1000 14 4 28,57%

Miway 64 113 2,39% 323 3,69% 5/1000 358 79 22,07%

Momentum 11 731 0,44% 31 0,35% 3/1000 43 12 27,91%

Monarch 24 371 0,91% 14 0,16% 1/1000 14 8 57,14%

Name of Insurer

Claims 
received 

by Insurers   
(FSB 

statistics)

Complaints 
received by 

OSTI

Number of 
Complaints 
received by 

OSTI per 
thousand 

Claims 
received by 

Insurer 

Complaints 
finalised by 

OSTI

Complaints 
finalised 

with some 
benefit to 

the insured  

Overturn 
Rate 

Share of 
claims 

received 
by the 

particular 
insurer (FSB 

statistics)

Share of 
the total 

number of 
complaints 

received 
by OSTI

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 81 2 3 4 5 6 7 8
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Insurer Statistics and Explanatory Notes

Mutual & Federal 145 909 5,43% 511 5,85% 4/1000 454 155 34,14%

Natsure 0 0,00% 6 0,07% 0/1000 8 1 12,50%

Nedinsurance 62 781 2,34% 249 2,85% 4/1000 301 98 32,56%

New National 26 305 0,98% 298 3,41% 11/1000 335 147 43,88%

NMS 106 984 3,98% 4 0,05% 0/1000 4 4 100,00%

Oakhurst 5 771 0,21% 216 2,47% 37/1000 264 84 31,82%

Old Mutual Health Insurance 388 0,01% 1 0,01% 0/1000 0 0 0,00%

Outsurance 284 576 10,59% 702 8,05% 2/1000 882 205 23,24%

R M B Structured 12 461 0,46% 307 3,51% 25/1000 273 135 49,45%

Regent 32 050 1,19% 224 2,57% 7/1000 312 143 45,83%

Relyant 20 620 0,77% 4 0,05% 0/1000 5 3 60,00%

Renasa 30 119 1,12% 59 0,67% 2/1000 96 47 48,96%

Resolution (Now Genric Insurance)** 5 950 0,22% 17 0,19% 3/1000 10 1 10,00%

S A Home Loans 24 736 0,92% 61 0,70% 2/1000 64 14 21,88%

SAFIRE 4 186 0,16% 9 0,10% 2/1000 3 1 33,33%

Santam 385 449 14,35% 833 9,53% 2/1000 839 292 34,80%

SASRIA 229 0,01% 0 0,00% 0/1000 1 1 100,00%

Saxum 3 231 0,12% 55 0,63% 17/1000 56 23 41,07%

Shoprite 9 690 0,36% 14 0,16% 1/1000 13 1 7,69%

Standard 118 479 4,41% 503 5,77% 4/1000 564 222 39,36%

Unitrans 2 652 0,10% 3 0,03% 1/1000 9 1 11,11%

Vodacom*** 53 453 1,99% 5 0,06% 0/1000 3 2 66,67%

Western National 5 376 0,20% 31 0,35% 6/1000 43 8 18,60%

Zurich 34 701 1,29% 125 1,43% 4/1000 173 60 34,68%

TOTAL 2 686 032 100,00% 8 742 100% 3/1000 9 898 3 644

Name of Insurer

Claims 
received 

by Insurers   
(FSB 

statistics)

Complaints 
received by 

OSTI

Number of 
Complaints 
received by 

OSTI per 
thousand 

Claims 
received by 

Insurer 

Complaints 
finalised by 

OSTI

Complaints 
finalised 

with some 
benefit to 

the insured  

Overturn 
Rate 

Share of 
claims 

received 
by the 

particular 
insurer (FSB 

statistics)

Share of 
the total 

number of 
complaints 

received 
by OSTI

*  The statistics for Auto and General Insurance Co. Ltd include the statistics of Budget Insurance Co. Ltd and First for Women Insurance 
Co. Ltd due to these two insurance companies having been granted their own licences half way through 2012. In 2013 these insurance 
companies and their statistics will be reflected individually.

** Insurer who changed name during the year.   
*** New insurer during the period.   

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8
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Orange- breasted Sunbird 
A wonderful diversity of proteas, ericas and other 
Fynbos plants are dependent on birds to assist 
with pollination. The Orange-breasted Sunbird 
and Cape Sugarbird are two Fynbos endemics 
(i.e. found nowhere else in the world) which assist 
with the pollination of these plants. 
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Directors’ Responsibilities and Approval
The directors are required in terms of the Companies Act of South Africa to maintain adequate accounting records and are 

responsible for the content and integrity of the financial statements and related financial information included in this report. It is their 

responsibility to ensure that the financial statements fairly present the state of affairs of the company as at the end of the financial 

year 31 December 2012 and the results of its operations and cash flows for the period then ended, in conformity with International 

Financial Reporting Standards. The external auditors are engaged to express an independent opinion on the financial statements.

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and are based upon 

appropriate accounting policies consistently applied and supported by reasonable and prudent judgments and estimates.

The directors acknowledge that they are ultimately responsible for the system of internal financial control established by the 

company and place considerable importance on maintaining a strong control environment. To enable the directors to meet these 

responsibilities, the directors set standards for internal control aimed at reducing the risk of error or loss in a cost effective manner. 

The standards include the proper delegation of responsibilities within a clearly defined framework, effective accounting procedures 

and adequate segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable level of risk. These controls are monitored throughout the company 

and all employees are required to maintain the highest ethical standards in ensuring the company’s business is conducted in a 

manner that in all reasonable circumstances is above reproach. The focus of risk management in the company is on identifying, 

assessing, managing and monitoring all known forms of risk across the company. While operating risk cannot be fully eliminated, the 

company endeavours to minimise it by ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems and ethical behaviour are applied 

and managed within predetermined procedures and constraints.

The directors are of the opinion, based on the information and explanations given by management, that the system of internal 

control provides reasonable assurance that the financial records may be relied on for the preparation of the financial statements. 

However, any system of internal financial control can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against material 

misstatement or loss.

The directors have reviewed the company’s cash flow forecast for the year to 31 December 2013 and, in the light of this review 

and the current financial position, they are satisfied that the company has or has access to adequate resources to continue in 

operational existence for the foreseeable future.

The external auditors are responsible for independently reviewing and reporting on the company’s financial statements. The 

financial statements have been examined by the company’s external auditors and their report is presented on pages 19. 

The external auditors were given unrestricted access to all financial records and related data, including minutes of all meetings 

of members, the board of directors and committees of the board. The directors believe that all representations made to the 

independent auditors during their audit are valid and appropriate.

The financial statements set out on pages 22 to 39, which have been prepared on the going concern basis, were approved by the 

directors on 08 April 2013 and were signed on its behalf by:

DIRECTOR

Financials

CHAIRMAN
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Independent Auditors’ Report
To the members of The Ombudsman for Short Term Insurance NPC

We have audited the financial statements of The Ombudsman for Short Term Insurance NPC set out on pages 22 to 39, which 

comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2012, and the statement of comprehensive income, statement 
of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and the notes, comprising a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements
The company’s directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards, and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa, and for such internal 
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatements, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance 
with International Standards on Auditing.  Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform 
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether they are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 
The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant 
to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit 
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of The Ombudsman for Short 
Term Insurance NPC as at 31 December 2012, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa.
 
Other reports required by the Companies Act
As part of the audit of the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2012, we have read the Directors’ Report for the 
purpose of identifying whether there are material inconsistencies between this report and the audited financial statements.  This 
report is the responsibility of the respective preparers.  Based on reading this report we have not identified material inconsistencies 
between this report and the audited financial statements.  However, we have not audited this report and accordingly do not 
express an opinion on this report.

Supplementary Information
The supplementary information set out on page 40 does not form part of the financial statements and is presented as additional 

information. We have not audited these schedules and accordingly do not express an opinion thereon.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc.

Director: MN Govender

Registered Auditor

Johannesburg
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The directors submit their report for the year ended 31 December 2012.

1.  Incorporation

 The company was incorporated on 01 January 2001 as an association not for gain.

2.  Review of activities

 Main business and operations

  The company provides the services of a mediator between complainants and short-term insurance companies and operates 

principally in South Africa.

 

 Registered office Sunnyside Office Park

  5th Floor, Building D

  32 Princess of Wales Terrace

  Parktown

  2093

 

 Postal address PO Box 32334

  Braamfontein

  2017

 

3.  Going concern

  The financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going concern. This basis 

presumes that funds will be available to finance future operations and that the realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities, 

contingent obligations and commitments will occur in the ordinary course of business.

4.  The change in accounting policy for Revenue recognition

  The company recognised revenue previously based on the average turn around days to close a case.  Revenue is now recognised 

when a case is closed in terms of IAS 18. A restatement of the prior year’s income, Retained Income and Deferred Income had 

to be effected in order to illustrate the financial position of the company.  This restatement of the revenue figures has resulted 

in a negative Retained Income in the 2011 and 2010 financial year end.

5.  Events after the reporting period

 The directors are not aware of any matter or circumstance arising since the end of the financial year.

Directors’ Report
for the year ended 31 December 2012

Financials
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6.  Directors

 The directors of the company during the year end to the date of this report are as follows:

 

 Name Changes

 JF Myburgh (Chairman) Appointed 13 July 2012 

 W Knowler (Vice Chairman)  

 PG Walters  

 SE Moolman Resigned13 July 2012 

 J Dixon  

 G Dhombo Resigned 13 July 2012 

 B Scott  

 L Bennie  

 GW Genis  

 T Zungu Appointed 31 March 2012 

 P Crankshaw Appointed 13 July 2012 

 R Semenya Appointed 13 July 2012 

 R Steyn Appointed 13 July 2012 

7.  Secretary

 The secretary of the company is MK Matabane of:

 Business address Sunnyside Office Park

  5th Floor, Building D

  32 Princess of Wales Terrace

  Parktown

  2093

 

 Postal address PO Box 32334

  Braamfontein

  2017

 

8.   Auditors

  PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. will continue in office in accordance with  

section 90 of the Companies Act of South Africa.

Directors’ Report (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2012
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Statement of Financial Position
for the year ended 31 December 2012

   Restated Restated
  2012 2011 2010
 Notes R R R

Assets     

    

Non Current Assets     

Property, plant and equipment 4 801,359 1,046,37 1,301,683 

Intangible assets 5 246,888 116,460 - 

  1,048,247 1,162,830 1,301,683 

 

Current Assets   

Trade and other receivables 8 2,762,306 4,178,175 3,153,451 

Cash and cash equivalents 9 11,105,935 9,372,585 8,132,083 

  13,868,241 13,550,760 11,285,534 

 

Total Assets  14,916,488 14,713,590 12,587,217

 

Equity and Liabilities     

Equity     

Retained income  369,606 (2,902,944) (5,841,210) 

 

Liabilities     

Non Current Liabilities     

Finance lease liability 10 - 65,342 124,478 

Retirement benefit obligation 7 516,721 398,649 428,494 

  516,721 463,991 552,972 

 

Current Liabilities     

Trade and other payables 13 4,854,461 5,305,923 4,768,255 

Deferred income 11 8,883,700 11,730,790 13,009,200 

Provisions 12 292,000 115,830 98,000 

  14,030,161 17,152,543 17,875,455

Total Liabilities  14,546,882 17,616,534 18,428,427 

 

Total Equity and Liabilities  14,916,488 14,713,590 12,587,217 

 

Financials
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Statement of Comprehensive Income
for the year ended 31 December 2012

Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 31 December 2012

  Restated Restated
  2012 2011 
 Notes R R 
    

Revenue 15 27,877,900 25,124,650 

Other income 16 45,504 44,494 

Operating expenses  (25,315,328) (22,836,621) 

 

Operating surplus  2,608,076 2,332,523  

 

Finance income 18 672,913 619,896 

Finance costs 19 (8,439) (14,153) 

 

Surplus for the year  3,272,550 2,938,266 

Other comprehensive income  - - 

 

Total comprehensive income  3,272,550 2,938,266

 Retained Total
 income equity 

 R R
 

Opening balance as previously reported (2,279,701) (2,279,701) 

Adjustments   

Net surplus for the year 2,855,060 2,855,060 

Adjustment through change in accounting policy (8,186,807) (8,186,807) 

Surplus for 2010 - restated 1,770,238 1,770,238 

Balance at 01 January 2011 - restated (5,841,210) (5,841,210) 

Surplus for the year 2,938,266 2,938,266 

Balance at 01 January 2012 (2,902,944) (2,902,944) 

Surplus for the year 3,272,550 3,272,550 

Balance at 31 December 2012 369,606 369,606 
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Financials

Statement of Cash Flows
for the year ended 31 December 2012

  2012 2011

 Notes R R
    

Cash flows from operating activities

    

Cash generated from operations 22 1,626,639 1,082,131 

Finance income  672,913 619,896 

Finance costs  (8,439) (14,153)

Net cash from operating activities  2,291,113 1,687,874 

 

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 4 (185,118) (354,595) 

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 4 (115,779) - 

Purchase of other intangible assets 5 (191,524) (33,180) 

Net cash from investing activities  (492,421) (387,775)

Cash flows from financing activities

    

Finance lease payments  (65,342)  (59,136) 

 

Total cash, cash equivalents and bank overdrafts 
movement for the year  1,733,350 1,240,963 

 

Cash, cash equivalents and bank overdrafts at the 
beginning of the year  9,372,585 8,132,083 

Total cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 9 11,105,935 9,373,046 

 

Goby Fish and Shrimp
Shrimps dig holes in the sand where they, together with the Goby fish can live. As shrimps are blind, the Goby fish are 
able to warn them of danger with their tails.  They then both hide in the holes when predators are near.
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Accounting Policies
for the year ended 31 December 2012

1.  Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and the Companies 

Act of South Africa. The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the measurement of 

investment properties and certain financial instruments at fair value, and incorporate the principal accounting policies set out below. 

They are presented in South African Rands.

These accounting policies are consistent with the previous period.

1.1  Property, plant and equipment

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset when:

•  it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the company; and

•  the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Property, plant and equipment is initially measured at cost.

Costs include costs incurred initially to acquire or construct an item of property, plant and equipment and costs incurred subsequently 

to add to, replace part of, or service it. If a replacement cost is recognised in the carrying amount of an item of property, plant 

and equipment, the carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the 

statement of comprehensive income during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Property, plant and equipment is carried at the revalued amount, being the fair value at the date of revaluation less any subsequent 

accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

When an item of property, plant and equipment is revalued, any accumulated depreciation at the date of the revaluation is restated 

proportionately with the change in the gross carrying amount of the asset so that the carrying amount of the asset after revaluation 

equals its revalued amount.

The revaluation surplus in equity related to a specific item of property, plant and equipment is transferred directly to retained 

earnings when the asset is derecognised.

Property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is charged to the statement of comprehensive income on a straight line basis over 

the estimated useful lives of each part of the assets. The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Item  Average useful life

Furniture and fixtures 5 years

Computer equipment 4 years

Depreciation methods useful lives and residual values are reassessed annually. 
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Accounting Policies (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2012

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised within 

‘Other income ‘ in the statement of comprehensive income.

 

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is 

probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the group and the cost of the item can be measured 

reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the statement 

of comprehensive income during the financial period in which they are incurred.

1.2  Intangible assets

Intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.

Amortisation is charged to the statement of comprehensive income on a straight line basis over the estimated useful lives of 

intangible assets. The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Item  Useful life

Software 4 years

1.3  Financial instruments

Classification

The company classifies financial assets and financial liabilities into the following categories:

Financial instruments are derecognised when the company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

On initial recognition, financial instruments are recognised on trade date at cost including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial 

recognition these instruments are measured as set below.

A financial liability is derecognised when it is legally extinguished.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables originated by the company are stated at cost.  Trade and other receivables are recognised according 

to the contractual terms on registered cases.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits. Cash and cash equivalents are measured at fair value.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are recognised at amortised cost, comprising original debt less principal payments and amortisations.

Financials
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Financial instruments (continued)

Financial asset

A financial asset is derecognised when the company loses control over the contractual rights that comprise an asset and consequently 

transfers substantively all the risk and benefits associated with the asset on trade date. This occurs when the rights are realised, 

expire or are surrendered.

 

1.4  Leases

Leases of property and equipment where the company assumes substantially all the benefits and risks of ownership are classified 

as finance leases. Fixed assets leased in terms of finance lease agreements are capitalised at the estimated present value of the 

underlying lease payments and are depreciated in accordance with the policies applicable to equivalent items of property, plant 

and equipment. Corresponding rental obligations, net of finance charges, are included in other long term payables. Lease finance 

charges are amortised over the duration of the leases by the effective interest rate method which takes into account the effective 

interest charge on the lease.

Leases where the lessor retains the risks and rewards of ownership of the underlying asset are classified as operating leases. 

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income on a straight line basis over the 

period of the lease.

1.5  Impairment 

The carrying amounts of the company’s assets are reviewed at the statement of financial position date to determine whether there 

is any indication of impairment. If there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, its recoverable amount is estimated and 

any impairment loss is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income for the difference between the recoverable amount 

and carrying amount. The recoverable amount is the amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use.

1.6  Revenue

Revenue represents fees charged for complaints received against insurers. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration 

received or receivable, and represents amounts receivable for services provided, stated net of discounts, credit notes and value 

added taxes. The company recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured and when it is probable that 

future economic benefits will flow to the entity. Revenue is recognised based on actual closed complaints cases. 

Penalty income of double the current fee is charged to insurers for delays in resolving matters.

The revenue policy was changed at the beginning of the year from the stage of completion to closed cases.

Accounting Policies (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2012
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1.7  Provisions and contingencies

Provisions are recognised when:

•  the company has a present obligation as a result of a past event;

•  it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation; and

•  a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.

The amount of a provision is the present value of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the obligation. Historical data are 

used to estimate the provision for credit notes to be approved in the subsequent year which relates to the provision financial year.

1.8  Interest income

Interest is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income on a time proportionate basis, taking account of the principal 

outstanding and the effective interest rate over the period to maturity, when it is probable that such income will accrue to the 

company.

 

1.9  Post retirement medical aid benefit liability

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an expense in the statement of comprehensive 

income as incurred.

1.10  Deferred income

Income received that relates to future financial periods is recognised as deferred income.

Accounting Policies (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2012

Pilot Fish and Shark
A symbiotic relationship has developed between sharks 
and pilot fish. Apart from eating food scraps, pilot fish also 
maintain the shark’s health by “grooming”, ridding them of 
parasites on their skins. They will even clean food particles 
from between the sharks teeth.

Financials
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2012

2.  New Standards and Interpretations

2.1   Standards and interpretations effective and adopted in the current year

In the current year, the company has adopted the following standards and interpretations that are effective for the current financial 

year and that are relevant to its operations:

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements

The amendment now requires items of other comprehensive income to be presented as:

•  Those which will be reclassified to profit or loss

•  Those which will not be reclassified to profit or loss.

The related tax disclosures are also required to follow the presentation allocation.

In addition, the amendment changed the name of the statement of comprehensive income to the statement of profit or loss and 

other comprehensive income.

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 01 July 2012.

The company has early adopted the amendment for the first time in the 2012 financial statements.

The impact of the amendment is not material.

IAS 19 Employee Benefits Revised

•   Require recognition of changes in the net defined benefit liability (asset) including immediate recognition of defined benefit cost, 

disaggregation of defined benefit cost into components, recognition of remeasurements in other comprehensive income, plan 

amendments, curtailments and settlements 

•  Introduce enhanced disclosures about defined benefit plans 

•   Modify accounting for termination benefits, including distinguishing benefits provided in exchange for service and benefits 

provided in exchange for the termination of employment and affect the recognition and measurement of termination benefits 

•   Clarification of miscellaneous issues, including the classification of employee benefits, current estimates of mortality rates, tax and 

administration costs and risk sharing and conditional indexation features 

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 01 January 2013.

The company has early adopted the amendment for the first time in the 2012 financial statements.

The impact of the amendment is not material.

IAS 1 – Annual Improvements for 2009 – 2011 cycle 

Clarification is provided on the requirements for comparative information. Specifically, if a retrospective restatement is made, a 

retrospective change in accounting policy or a reclassification, the statement of financial position at the beginning of the previous 

period is only required if the impact on the beginning of the previous period is material.  Related notes are not required, other 

than disclosure of specified information.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2012

IAS 1 – Annual Improvements for 2009 – 2011 cycle (continued)

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 01 January 2013.

The company has early adopted the amendment for the first time in the 2012 financial statements.

The impact of the amendment is not material.

 

3.  Risk management

Capital risk management

The company manages capital risk by aiming to maintain capital reserves that will enable the company to cover at least five months 

of operating expenditure.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk indicates a company’s ability to meet its financial obligations. The company has various cash management procedures 

and processes in place. The company funds are available within 32 days.

No maturity profile has been provided for liabilities as all accounts payable at year end will be settled within 3 months except for 

the finance lease liability. Refer to note 10 for the maturity profile of the finance lease liability.

Market risk

The company’s exposure to market risk is limited to interest rate risk. There is no exposure to currency risk as all transactions are 

Rand denominated and there is no exposure to other market risks. The company monitors the South African economy and the 

decisions taken by the South African monetary committee on treasury matters.

Interest rate risk

The company holds funds with financial institutions. There is a risk that the value of the financial instrument will fluctuate as a result 

of the changes in the market interest rates. The company monitors the credit rating of these financial institutions to ensure that no 

variation from predetermined expectations exists.

A two percent change in interest rates would have changed equity and surplus to the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes 

that all other variables remain constant. This analysis is performed on the same basis for 2010.

Credit risk

Credit risk is arises from the inability or unwillingness of counterparty to a financial instrument to discharge its contractual 

obligations.

 2012 2011 2010

 R R R

Financial instrument    

Trade and other receivables 2,762,306 4,178,175 3,153,451 

Cash and cash equivalents 11,105,935 9,372,585 8,132,083 

 

Financials
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2012

4.  Property, plant and equipment
         

 2012 2011 2010 

 Cost Accumulated Carrying Cost Accumulated Carrying Cost Accumulated Carrying
  depreciation value  depreciation  value depreciation value

Furniture and fixtures 860,069 (630,793) 229,276 736,689 (579,069) 157,620 751,799 (553,638) 198,161 

IT equipment 1,709,825 (1,137,742) 572,083 2,964,612 (2,075,862) 888,750 2,906,207 (1,802,685) 1,103,522 

 

Total 2,569,894 (1,768,535) 801,359 3,701,301 (2,654,931) 1,046,370 3,658,006 (2,356,323) 1,301,683 

 

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - 2012

 Opening Additions Disposals Depreciation Closing

 balance    

Furniture and fixtures 157,620 148,356 (2,621) (74,079) 229,276 

IT equipment 888,750 36,762 (2,518) (350,911) 572,083 

 1,046,370 185,118 (5,139) (424,990) 801,359 

 

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - 2011

 Opening Additions Depreciation Closing

 balance   balance

Furniture and fixtures 198,160 46,633 (87,173) 157,620 

IT equipment 912,079 307,962 (331,291) 888,750 

 1,110,239 354,595 (418,464) 1,046,370

 

Included in computer equipment is a telephone system that was acquired through a finance lease. Refer to note 14 and 23.

5.  Intangible assets

 2012 2011 2010 

 Cost Accumulated Carrying Cost Accumulated Carrying Cost Accumulated Carrying
  depreciation value  depreciation  value depreciation value

Software 769,716 (522,828) 246,888 817,726 (701,266) 116,460 - - - 

 

Reconciliation of intangible assets - 2012

 Opening Additions Depreciation Closing

 balance   balance

Software 116,460 191,524 (61,096) 246,888

  

Reconciliation of intangible assets - 2011

 Opening Additions Depreciation Closing

 balance   balance

Software 191,441 33,180 (108,161) 116,460 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2012

6.  Financial assets by category

The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:

2012

 Loans and Total

 receivables

Trade and other receivables 2,762,306 2,762,306

Cash and cash equivalents 11,105,935 11,105,935

 13,868,241 13,868,241

2011

 Loans and  Total
 receivables

Trade and other receivables 4,178,175 4,178,175

Cash and cash equivalents 9,372,585 9,372,585

 13,550,760 13,550,760

 

2010

 Loans and  Total
 receivables

Trade and other receivables 3,153,451 3,153,451

Cash and cash equivalents 8,132,083 8,132,083

 11,285,534 11,285,534 

7.  Post retirement medical aid benefits
Movements for the year

  2012 2011 2010

  R R R

Movement in the obligation recognised in the statement of financial position

Opening defined benefit obligation 398,649 428,494 424,518

Interest cost 35,343 35,700 32,152

Actuarial (gains)/loss 115,848 (35,148) - 

Benefits paid (33,119) (30,397) (28,176) 

 

Closing defined benefit obligation 516,721 398,649 428,494 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2012

7.  Post retirement medical aid benefits (continued)

  

Assumptions used

Discount rate and medical aid inflation:

The post retirement medical aid benefits are actuarially valued at the discretion of management, at intervals of no more than 

three years on the projected unit credit method. The post retirement medical aid liability was last valued as at December 2012. 

The discount rate was set equal to the yield on a zero coupon government bond with a term of approximately 8 years. Medical 

aid inflation was estimated based on the Consumer Price Index plus a 1% to 2% margin. The principal assumptions are as follows:

Discount rate 8.00% 8.25% -

Medical aid inflation 6.83% 7.90% - 

 

Mortality:

The PA90(f) (Female Immediate Annuitants) table was used to calculate the obligation as there is one ex employee on the post 

retirement medical plan.

The following amounts were recognised in the statement of Comprehensive Income:

Interest cost 35,343 35,700 -

Actuarial (gain)/loss 115,848 35,148 -

    

  

 MEDICAL AID INFLATION

 Central assumption 6.93% -1%  1% 

Accrued liability 31 December 2012 (R’) 516,721 472,904 567,571

% Change - 8.5% 9.8%

Interest Cost 2013 (R’) 39,856 36,351 43,924 

% Change - 8.8% 10.2% 

Medical aid inflation 6.93% 6.9% 8.9%

Discount rate 8.00% 8.25% 8.25% 

 

 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

Present value of the

medical aid obligation 516,721 398,649 428,494 424,518 519,755 

Deficit in the plan 516,721 398,649 428,494 424,518 519,755 

 

Experience adjustments

There were no significant experience adjustments in the past four years.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2012

  2012 2011 2010

  R R R

8.   Trade and other receivables restated

Trade receivables 7,357 21,893 710

VAT 57,479 68,121 82,842

Accrued income 821,800 1,775,500 1,630,700

Under invoiced in current year 1,841,900 2,272,100 1,255,200

Other receivables 33,770 40,561 183,999

 2,762,306 4,178,175 3,153,451

9.   Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:

Bank balances 11,105,935 9,372,585 8,132,083

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits. Cash and cash equivalents are measured at fair value.

Bank and cash balances earned interest at rates of approximately 5% on the call account and 2% on the current account during 

the year.

The bank held the following guarantees in respect of a finance lease held with Growthpoint for the building.

   

Guarantee by the bank   126,883 

 

The extent of facilities with the client:

   

Asset based finance facility   81,576

Letters of guarantee facility   254,000

   335 576

10.  Finance lease liability

Minimum lease payments due

   

- no later than one year 59,260 59,304 59,766

later than one year and no later than five years - 65,342 124,478

Present value of minimum lease payments 59,260 124,646 184,244
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2012

  2012 2011 2010

  R R R

11.  Deferred income   restated

Balance brought forward on open cases 11,730,790 13,009,200 12,954,700

Registered cases in current year 25,545,010 23,489,390 20,821,300

Total closed cases in current year (28,062,600) (24,296,800) (20,430,500)

100% credit notes (405,100) (401,400) (405,900)

Transferred to accrued income 75,600 (69,600) 69,600

 8,883,700 11,730,790 13,009,200

     

12.  Provisions

Reconciliation of provisions - 2012

    

 Opening Utilised during Raised during Closing

 balance the year the year balance

Audit fees 115,830 (115,830) 292,000 292,000

Reconciliation of provisions - 2011

 Opening Utilised during Raised during Closing

 balance the year the year balance

Audit fees 98,000 (98,000) 115,830 115,830

Reconciliation of provisions - 2010

 Opening Utilised during Raised during Closing

 balance the year the year balance 

Audit fees 119,696 (146,148) 124,452 98,000

Credit notes - - - - 

 

 119,696 (146,148) 124,452 98,000
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2012

  2012 2011 2010

  R R R

13.  Trade and other payables - restated
        

Accrued salaries 131 1,291,364 5,928

Sundry creditors 1,200,154 1,305,847 1,467,322

Cash received in advance 2,771,500 1,780,200 2,803,200

Accrued expenses 251,365 462,451 114,237

Leave accrual 572,051 406,756 317,802 

Finance lease liability 59,260 59,305 59,766 

 4,854,461 5,305,923 4,768,255

14.  Financial liabilities by category

The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:

2012

 Financial liabilities Total 

 at amortised cost 

Finance lease liability 59,260 59,260

Trade and other payables 4,854,461 4,854,461

Deferred income 8,883,700 8,883,700

 13,797,421 13,797,421 

 

2011

 Financial liabilities Total

 at amortised cost

Finance lease liability 65,342 65,342

Trade and other payables 5,305,923 5,305,923

Deferred income 11,730,790 11,730,790 

 17,102,055 17,102,055

2010

 Financial liabilities Total 

 at amortised cost 

Finance lease liability 124,478 124,478 

Trade and other payables 4,768,255 4,768,255 

Deferred income 13,009,200 13,009,200

 17,901,933 17,901,933 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2012

  2012 2011 

  R R
 

15.  Revenue restated
      

Fee income 28,062,600 24,296,800

Penalty income 746,200 1,775,500

Credit Notes adjustments (930,900) (947,650)

 27,877,900 25,124,650

16.  Other income
    

Other income 45,504 44,494

17.  Expenses by nature
    

Computer expenses 862,006 929,743

Depreciation, amortisation and impairments 486,086 526,627

Employee costs 19,487,182 17,226,058

Lease rentals on operating lease 2,571,020 1,768,375

Other expenses 1,562,869 2,024,224

Public relations 346,165 361,594

Total operating expenses 25,315,328 22,836,621

18.  Finance income
     

Finance income earned on cash and cash equivalents 672,913 619,896  

 

19.  Finance costs
     

Interest payments for the finance lease liability 8,439 14,153

20.  Taxation

The Ombudsman for the Short Term Insurance NPC is an association not for gain. In terms of Section 30 of the the Income Tax 

Act, the company is exempt from taxation.

21.  Auditors’ remuneration  

    

Fees 397,276 206,685
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for the year ended 31 December 2012

  2012 2011 

  R R 

22.  Cash generated from operations
      

Profit before taxation 3,272,550 2,938,266

Adjustments for: 

Depreciation and amortisation 486,086 526,627

Loss on sale of assets 120,918 -

Interest received (672,913) (619,896)

Finance costs 8,439 14,153

(Decrease)/increase in post retirement medical aid benefit obligation 118,072 (29,845)

Movements in provisions 176,170 17,830

Changes in working capital: 

Trade and other receivables 1,415,869 (1,024,724)

Trade and other payables (451,462) 538,130

Deferred income (2,847,090) (1,278,410)

 1,626,639 1,082,131
 
23.  Commitments

Operating lease commitment

Operating lease commitment consists of leases of the offices building and office equipment. The new office rental contract will 
escalate at 9% on the leave anniversary and expire on 31 May 2014. The equipment leases have aduration of 3 years with an option 
of renewal.

The future aggregate minimum lease payments under operating lease are as follows:

    

Operating lease commitment Payable within Payable within
 one year  two to five years

 R R

Copiers, scanners and fax machine 229,609 492,594

Building 1,437,767 1,836,412

 1,667,376 2,329,006

    

Finance lease commitment     

Payments 74,228 62,023

Interest (8,439) (2,613) 

Net present value of payments 65,789 59,410 

Summary of borrowings arrangements:

•   The finance lease agreement relates to a telephone system with a lease terms of 3 years at prime interest rate. The obligation 

under the agreement is secured by the lessors’ title to the leased assets.

•  The carrying amounts of current borrowing approximate their fair value.
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  2012 2011 

  R R 

24.  Related parties
 

Related party transactions

     

Directors fees paid 

Remuneration 326,681 197,640

 

25.  Change in accounting policy

Revenue was previously recognised based on the average turn around days to close a case. Revenue is now recognised when a 

case is closed. This basis is in terms of IAS 18. The financial statements for 2011 and 2010 have been restated to account for this 

adjustment. The effect of the restatement on the financial statements is summarised below:

      

Statement of Financial Position 2011 2010

Decrease in Equity (4,081,047) (6,416,567)

Increase in Deferred Income 2,737,387 5,080,968

Statement of comprehensive income   

Increase/(Decrease) in Revenue 2,335,522 (1,084,822)

26.  Comparative figures

Comparatives were restated to correctly reflect the classification of the accounts. 

27.  Going concern

The financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going concern. This basis presumes 

that funds will be available to finance future operations and that the realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities, contingent 

obligations and commitments will occur in the ordinary course of business.

28.  Events after the reporting period

The directors are not aware of any matter or circumstance arising since the end of the financial year.
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Detailed Income Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2012

   2012 2011 

  Notes R R

Revenue 15 27,877,900 25,124,650

Other income

Other income  45,504 44,494

Finance income 18 672,913 619,896

  718,417 664,390

     

Expenses (see below)  (25,315,328) (22,836,621)

Operating surplus  3,280,989 2,952,419

Finance costs 19 (8,439) (14,153)

Surplus for the year  3,272,550 2,938,266

Operating expenses     

Auditors remuneration 21 397,276 206,685

Bad debts  - 81,380

Bank charges  24,182 24,115

Cleaning  5,400 25,519

Computer expenses  862,006 929,743

Consulting and professional fees  64,021 31,006

Depreciation, amortisation and impairments  486,086 526,627 

Donations  5,000 - 

Employee costs  19,487,182 17,226,058

Entertainment  31,738 27,133 

FSOS council levies  5,000 - 

Insurance  94,057 99,483

Lease rentals on operating lease  1,059,119 849,429

Legal expenses  19,535 43,236 

Loss on disposal of assets  120,918 -

Other expenses  728,807 851,903

Postage  25,289 28,381

Printing and stationery  574,994 493,478

Public relations  346,165 361,594

Repairs and maintenance  32,620 29,812

Security  - 1,200

Staff welfare  70,894 63,361

Telephone and fax  495,343 501,993

Travel - local  48,846 54,759

Travel - overseas  47,982 114,223

Utilities  282,868 265,503

  25,315,328 22,836,621
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Case Studies

1.    Regular driver with a twist 

(Unity Insurance Limited)

The office of the Ombudsman’s intervention was requested by the complainant on his 

claim, which was repudiated by the insurer on the basis that the regular driver had been 

misrepresented.

On further investigation, it was found that the complainant’s vehicle was parked in a locked 

garage at his brother-in-law’s home when it was stolen.  The complainant was noted as the 

regular driver and the insurer appointed an assessor to investigate the matter.

The brother-in-law was interviewed and he advised that the incident vehicle was purchased 

at the end of November 2010.  He further advised that the vehicle was used for business 

meetings and, when asked why the vehicle was parked at his premises on the day of the 

African Sacred Ibis
The African Sacred Ibis 
and other waterbirds often 
fly in V-formation, using 
each other’s “slipstreams” 
to save energy.
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Case Studies

loss, he informed them that the vehicle was due to go for a 

service and the insured’s brother had brought the vehicle to his 

premises to be taken for the service.  The insurer based their 

decision on the interview, which they had had with the brother-

in-law and witnesses.

Our office immediately informed the insurer that if they 

were not able to provide us with sufficient evidence that a 

misrepresentation had happened at the inception of the policy 

and that it was intentional, then a pro-rata offer should be made 

deducting the premium prejudice, which they had suffered.

We, further, pointed out that we did not see that the regular 

driver was material to the actual loss as this vehicle was stolen 

from a locked garage.  Our office, however, also cautioned the 

complainant that by not informing the insurer of the material 

change in risk, he had prejudiced the insurer and his cover.  We 

advised him that, in future, he should advise the insurer if there 

was any change to his circumstances.

The insurer then provided us with an offer less the premium 

prejudice and also a deduction for salvage.  We advised the 

insurer that we could not allow the salvage deduction as this 

vehicle was stolen and not in the complainant’s possession. 

Should we allow the salvage to be deducted, the insurer would 

have been enriched in this regard.

The insurance company then amended their offer accordingly 

and the claim was settled.

2.  No cover: Cover commenced after the loss 

(The Hollard Insurance Company Limited)

Details of the claim

The complainant enjoyed cover under a legal protection policy. 

The complainant was involved in a motor vehicle accident on 

18 June 2010. The accident occurred after the third party lost 

control of his vehicle and veered into oncoming traffic into the 

complainant’s path of travel. 

Immediately after the accident, the complainant and the third 

party entered into a verbal agreement whereby the third party 

acknowledged liability for the accident and agreed to repair the 

complainant’s vehicle. 

The third party subsequently denied liability after receiving a 

copy of the repair quotation in the amount of R42 083.52. 

The complainant then submitted a claim to the insurer for the 

legal costs associated with a civil action against the third party. 

The complainant’s claim was assessed in the normal course and 

subsequently repudiated. 

According to the insurer, the complainant did not enjoy cover. 

The insurer, in its response to the complaint, submitted that the 

complainant’s policy was not in force at the time of the loss. The 

incident giving rise to the claim did not occur during the period 

in which the complainant enjoyed cover under the policy. 

It was ascertained that the complainant’s policy incepted in 

2008. This policy subsequently lapsed in the same year due to 

the non-payment of premium. The insurer only received one 

month’s premium in 2008. The policy was reinstated, effective 1 

October 2010, at the complainant’s instance. The complainant’s 

policy was active when he submitted the claim to the insurer. 

The insurer repudiated the complainant’s claim based on the 

following policy provisions: 

Insured events for legal cover

A covered matter shall be based on, and arise entirely from 

insured events. An “Insured Event” means:

Circumstances or events which arose, occurred or came into 

existence whilst insurance cover was in force, including the 

policy not being suspended. 

Terms and conditions to be satisfied for covered matters 

A Matter is only covered and legal fees are only payable in 

respect of a matter if:

The material facts of a cause of action occur within your  

cover period
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The Ombudsman’s view

The Ombudsman agreed with the insurer that the complainant 

did not enjoy cover. Although the complainant’s policy with the 

insurer was active when he submitted the claim, the accident 

occurred on 18 June 2010, prior to the cover reinstatement 

on 1 October 2010. The ‘material facts of the cause of action’ 

therefore did not occur within the cover period. The insurer 

however assisted the complainant internally and exhausted all 

paralegal resources. 

3.   Meeting of the minds and insurer’s obligations in 

terms of the Policyholder Protection Rules 

(The Hollard Insurance Company Limited)

In his details of complaint, the complainant’s representative 

advised that the complainant was deaf since birth and could 

not read or write and only communicated by sign language.  

The complainant noted that an amount of R55.00 per month 

was being deducted from his bank account by the insurer, 

which the complainant had assumed was in respect of a funeral 

policy. In light of the complainant’s inability to read or write, the 

complainant’s representative questioned the insurer on how 

this policy incepted, specifically with regard to how the policy 

terms and conditions were explained to the complainant, in 

the absence of a sign-language interpreter.  Initially, the insurer 

had allegedly agreed to refund the complainant’s premiums. 

However, the refund was never paid and the complaint was 

thereafter referred to this office.

In their first response, the insurer advised that the policy had 

incepted when the complainant’s cousin, Mr. S, who also enjoyed 

cover with the insurer under a similar policy, had explained the 

policy to the complainant and after such explanation was given, 

the complainant had agreed to the inception of the policy.   

Mr. S then agreed with the insurer telephonically to the 

inception of the policy.  Therefore the complainant was not 

entitled to a refund of the premiums.

The complainant’s representative reiterated that the 

complainant was deaf and could not read or write.  Therefore 

the insurer was requested to furnish us with a visual recording 

of the inception conversation with the complainant wherein 

Mr. S furnished the complainant with an explanation, in sign 

language, of the pertinent terms and conditions of the policy 

prior to the inception of the policy in accordance with the 

Policyholder Protection Rules.

The insurer was unable to furnish us with the above information 

and the insurer was requested to refund the complainant’s 

premiums as the insurer was unable to show that there was 

a meeting of the minds and that the complainant had, firstly, 

understood the terms and conditions of the policy and, 

secondly, agreed to the inception of the policy.  The insurer 

confirmed that the policy was voided since inception and all 

premiums refunded.

4.  Fire Damage  

(The Lion of Africa Insurance Company Limited)

Details of claim:

The insured vehicle was purchased as a second hand vehicle 

through a private deal in April 2011. At the end of May 2011 

the complainant was driving the vehicle when the vehicle’s 

engine suddenly caught alight. As there was extensive damage 

to the insured vehicle the complainant registered a claim with 

the insurer. The vehicle was declared a write off by the insurer’s 

assessor as it was deemed to be uneconomical to repair. The 

vehicle was covered comprehensively by the insurer. However, 

the insurer rejected liability for the claim on the grounds that 

the damage for which the insured was claiming fell within a 

specific exclusion contained in the insurer’s policy wording 

dealing with ‘wear and tear, mechanical or electrical breakdown 

or failures’ as well as on the grounds of ‘consequential loss’.

The complainant’s view:

The complainant was of the view that as the vehicle was 

purchased less than two months prior to the loss and had been 

approved as roadworthy by the AA as well as by an approved 

dealer, she had taken all necessary precautions to ensure that the 

vehicle was in a sound mechanical condition and was therefore 

roadworthy. The insurer was therefore not entitled to reject the 

claim on the grounds that the cause of the fire was as a result 

of a specific exclusion. Furthermore, as damage resulting from 

fire is an insured peril in terms of the comprehensive insurance 
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policy, the insurer is not justified in arguing that the proximate 

cause of the damage was as a result of the specific exclusion, 

being that of mechanical or electrical breakdown or failure or 

that the claim was for consequential damages.

The insurer’s view:

The insurer was of the view that as their expert had established 

that the fire was caused as a result of a fuel hose failure, and 

as this cause of the damage fell within a specific exclusion, 

the claim was capable of rejection. Furthermore, the insurer 

also quoted the following provision of its policy wording as an 

additional reason for the rejection of the claim:

“General Condition 4

This policy does not cover consequential loss or damage of any kind 

whatsoever, except as may be specifically provided in this policy.”

The insurer therefore also argued that the fire was a 

consequence of the fuel hose failure and as the policy did not 

cover ‘consequential loss’ there was no cover for the damage 

resulting from the fire.

The Ombudsman’s view:

The view of the office was that the damage which the insured 

was claiming for did not qualify as ‘consequential damages’ as 

consequential damages means an indirect financial loss suffered 

by the insured and does not extend to direct loss suffered 

by the insured as a result of an insured peril.  The insurer  

was therefore not justified in basing the reason for the 

rejection of the claim on the grounds that the damage, which 

the insured was claiming for, was as a result of a ‘consequential 

loss’ due to the proximate cause of the fire being a possible fuel  

hose failure.

With regard to the insurer’s decision to reject the claim on 

the grounds that the damages fell within the specific exclusion, 

being that of wear and tear, mechanical and or electrical 

breakdown, the expert report provided by the insurer merely 

stated that the ‘most probable cause’ of the fire was ‘fuel hose 

failure’. The report therefore did not confirm that the fuel hose 

failure was in fact the cause of the fire. There was therefore a 

possibility that the fuel hose failure was not the cause or even 

not the sole cause of the fire.

Case Studies

Pale Chanting Goshawk
The Pale Chanting Goshawk, a raptor which is common in the Kalahari, often follows mammalian predators, 
such as the Honey Badger, and catches any small prey which are flushed by the foraging mammal. 
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Furthermore, as fire was an insured peril in terms of the 

comprehensive motor insurance policy, the insurer was liable 

to settle the claim in full for the damage caused as a result of 

the fire. The insurer agree to settle the claim in full subject to 

the applicable excesses. 

Similarly to the above matter, another complaint also dealt with 

a claim for fire damage and that policy also included fire as 

an insured peril. In this matter, the same insurer also rejected 

the claim on the grounds that the damage fell within a specific 

exclusion dealing with wear and tear, electrical and mechanical 

breakdown and failure as well as on the grounds that the 

damage caused by the fire, for which the complainant was 

claiming, was a consequential loss which was also not covered 

in terms of the policy.

The circumstances giving rise to this claim was that the 

vehicle had also self-ignited whilst it was being driven by the 

complainant. The vehicle was purchased in January 2010 and 

the loss occurred in August 2010. At the end of May 2010 

the complainant started to experience an overheating problem 

with the vehicle and the vehicle was therefore taken to a 

service centre where it was kept until about mid August 2010 

in order for the problem to be identified and repaired. The 

loss occurred about 6 days after it had been collected by the 

complainant from the repairer.

The insurer’s expert established that the damage was caused 

by a spark plug, which had not been inserted correctly into its 

slot into the cylinder head of the engine. This then caused a fuel 

pocket, which built up and caused an ignition, which then led to 

the engine also catching alight.

The insurer argued that the fire was a direct result of the 

spark plug not being fitted properly and that the damage was  

therefore a ‘consequence’ of the failure to fit the spark plug 

properly. As the vehicle was being attended to for mechanical 

issues at least six days prior to the loss occurring, the 

insurer believed that the repairer was liable to indemnify the  

complainant for this loss because had the spark plug been  

Cape Vulture
While flying in thermals and searching 
for food, vultures also keep an eye on 

their conspecifics and quickly fly 
across to join other vultures at 
the carcass of a dead animal.
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fitted correctly there would not have been a fire and the 

resultant damage would not have occurred.  

Our view was that whether or not the spark plug had been 

incorrectly inserted by the repairer, the damage, which was 

caused by the fire, did not fall within the ambit of a ‘consequential 

loss’. Whilst the repairer may have attended to the vehicle due 

to mechanical problems that were being experienced with the 

vehicle, the proximate cause of the damage was the fire and 

not the mechanical issues and as fire is an insured peril in terms 

of the policy, the insurer was liable to indemnify the insured in 

full for the claim for damages. To the extent that there may have 

been negligence on the part of the repairer who had worked 

on the vehicle, the insurer would then have recourse against 

the repairer for any loss suffered by the insured. The insurer 

agreed to settle the claim.

5.   Violation of road traffic laws – an exclusion  

to cover 

(R M B Structured Insurance)

Merits: 

The complainant was involved in an accident and subsequently 

submitted a claim for damage to the insured vehicle with the 

relevant insurer. The complainant informed the insurer that he 

was in the process of overtaking a vehicle in front of him.  At 

that point he noticed an oncoming vehicle and attempted to 

swerve to the side of the road.  Unfortunately he lost control of 

the vehicle and sustained damage to the vehicle in the accident. 

  

Insurer:

The insurer duly processed the claim and the following came to 

light.  The insurer could substantiate, by means of independent 

and objective evidence, that the complainant was exceeding the 

speed limit at the time directly prior to the accident.  Further 

evidence, by means of the accident report and other party 

statements, revealed that the complainant had attempted to 

overtake the vehicle on a barrier line in the road, which made a 

slight bend to the right.  The insurer therefore declined liability 

of the claim alleging that the complainant had breached the 

following term in the applicable policy wording: 

“The insurer shall not be obliged in any way to settle or contribute 

toward any claim: 

Where it is established that the designated driver was exceeding 

the speed limit or violating any applicable road or traffic laws at 

the time of or immediately prior to an event resulting in a claim.” 

Ombudsman: 

Having considered the circumstances of the accident together 

with the evidence submitted to the Ombudsman’s office, it was 

determined that the violation of the traffic laws, as stipulated 

in the policy agreement, did, on a balance of probabilities, 

cause or contribute to the accident.  The excessive speed that 

the complainant was travelling, in all probabilities, caused the 

complainant to lose control of the vehicle.  This was therefore 

both relevant and material to the loss. 

The insurer contracted with the complainant based on specific 

exclusions as contained in the policy agreement.   

 

Apart from the aforementioned the Ombudsman also took 

into account principles pertaining to public policy. 

The Ombudsman upheld the decision of the insurer.    

6.   Subscriptions payable for vehicle tracking 
(Compass Insurance Company Limited)

Details of Claim

The insured vehicle was insured comprehensively under the 

motor section of the policy with an insurer. The minimum 

security requirement was that the vehicle be fitted with a 

VESA approved alarm/immobilizer system.  This was complied 

with and, in addition, the vehicle was also fitted with a Netstar 

tracking device, although the policy was not endorsed with this 

requirement and the complainant did not get any additional 

discount for having a tracking device.  

Approximately two years later the complainant cancelled 

the subscription with the tracking company and about three 

years after this the vehicle was stolen.  When the theft of the 

vehicle was discovered by the complainant, the complainant 

contacted the tracking company and asked them to reactivate 

Case Studies
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the tracking system in an effort to try and recover the vehicle.  

At that stage it was agreed that the complainant would pay 

the tracking company subscriptions from the date on which 

the subscription was cancelled.  The tracking company was 

successful in recovering the vehicle and the vehicle was given 

back to the complainant.

The complainant submitted a claim to the insurance company 

claiming for the three year’s subscriptions that he had had to 

pay to the tracking company.  His reason for this was the fact 

that his actions and the subsequent recovery of the vehicle had 

saved the insurance company money in that they did not have 

to pay for a stolen vehicle, which justified the requested refund 

from the insurance company.

Insurer’s Response

The insurer responded by stating that a tracking device was 

not a requirement in terms of the policy and, even if it was, the 

complainant would have had to pay the subscription fees in any 

event and not the insurance company.  The insurance company 

therefore rejected the complainant’s request for a refund of 

these subscription fees.

Ombudsman’s View

Having considered that matter at hand the view of this office 

was that the complainant was not entitled to be refunded the 

subscription fees for the tracking device.  It was explained to the 

complainant that even if a tracking device was a requirement 

in terms of the policy, the complainant remained responsible 

for the payment of the subscription fees and not the insurance 

company.  The rejection of the claim was upheld.

7.   Smooth tyres not material to the loss 

(Regent Insurance Company Limited)

The insured was involved in an accident in February 2011 at 

02h00 in Alexander Road, Midrand. As she was driving down 

the road a third party vehicle was driving from the opposite 

direction. The third party was driving on two lanes and the 

insured, in trying to avoid the third party, swerved to the left 

hand side thereby hitting concrete blocks, which were on the 

side of the aforesaid road as it was under construction. The 

insured vehicle was damaged on the left front side.

The insurer rejected liability on the ground that three of the 

insured’s tyres were below the legal tread limit. The insurer 

submitted that the accident was as a direct result of the 

smooth tyres as the insured vehicle was significantly impaired 

whilst attempting to avoid the collision. The insurer appointed 

an assessor who found that the tread depths on three tyres 

were below the legal limit. The insurer’s assessor furnished a 

photograph of one tyre, which was the left front tyre, but failed 

to furnish photographs of the other two tyres.   

The insured pointed out that the reason why the left front 

tyre was so badly damaged was due to the fact that she drove 

the vehicle for approximately 10 km from the scene of the 

accident to her house and the left front rim was damaged and 

therefore this damaged the tyre even further whilst the vehicle 

was being driven after the accident. The insured advised that 

she did not wait for the tow truck considering the time at 

which the accident had taken place. The insured furnished the 

Ombudsman with photographs of the tyres, which were not 

very clear.

The Ombudsman pointed out to the insurer that having regard 

to the circumstances of the collision, the onus was on the 

insurer to prove that the smooth tyres were material to the 

manner in which the accident had occurred. The insurer failed 

to prove this and was requested to settle the insured’s claim 

in full. 

The insurer paid the claim in full.

8.   Change in risk and materiality to the loss 

(Auto & General Insurance Company Limited)

The Merits:

The complainant incurred a total loss of her vehicle when it 

was stolen at a gym frequented by both her and her son. She 

intimated a claim with her insurer for the loss incurred, which 

claim was declined on the basis that the complainant had failed 
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to disclose to her insurer a material change in risk when her 

son had became the regular driver of the vehicle in question. 

The Ombudsman’s (OSTI’s) view:

The OSTI’s view was that although the change in risk could 

be considered material to the underwriting, in this specific 

instance, there had been no intention by the complainant to 

create a misrepresentation regarding the regular driver. The 

insurer was therefore not entitled to void the policy in order 

to avoid the claim. 

It was further explained that the change in regular driver 

could not be deemed to be material to the loss in any way, 

more specifically, as the risk of theft of the vehicle from the 

gym did not increase by the complainant’s son becoming the 

regular driver. They both frequented the same gym. In such 

instances, where the change in risk was not material to the loss, 

it was suggested by the OSTI that the difference in premium 

be collected from the date of the change in risk, when the 

complainant’s son became the regular driver, and deducted 

from the settlement of the claim. A pro rata settlement would 

in such circumstances not be acceptable.

Outcome:

The insurer agreed with the OSTI and the claim was settled 

less the difference in premium. 

9.   Functus Officio 

(Santam Limited)

The following complaint was filed during the term of office of 

the previous Ombudsman. 

The insured submitted a complaint after the insurer rejected 

his claim for a burglary, which had occurred at his premises on 

the basis of fraud and dishonesty.

The insured’s wife discovered that a burglary had occurred 

at the insured property and she contacted the insured who 

advised her to press the panic button, which she duly did, and 

the armed response attended at their residence.

When submitting the claim the insured included a laptop 

computer as well as a camera on the list of items stolen, which 

were later found not to have been stolen during the burglary. 

The insurer then proceeded to reject the entire claim.

The Office of the Ombudsman reminded the insurer of the 

office’s position on these types of matters. The position was 

that in matters where fraud and dishonesty was suspected by 

the insurer, the insurer would be required to exclude the items 

in question and to settle the rest of the claim. 

The insurer was of the view that if dishonesty and / or fraud 

have been proven they were entitled to reject the entire claim 

and if the Office disagreed, then the matter should be referred 

for a formal ruling.

A provisional ruling was issued by the previous Ombudsman 

against the insurer giving them the opportunity to review their 

position, which they did not, and a final ruling was issued by him 

on the 12th of December 2011.

It just so happened that December 2011 was also the end 

of the then Ombudsman’s term of office. The insurer then 

requested that the new Ombudsman review and set aside the 

ruling made by his predecessor.

The new Ombudsman considered the case law as well as the 

practice of other Ombudsmen offices and came to the decision 

that had the decision been made by an Assistant Ombudsman 

he would have been able to review the decision. However, as 

this was a final ruling made by the previous Ombudsman the 

office was functus officio.

The insurer was therefore ordered to settle the claim as per 

the final ruling, which the insurer did.

10.   Insurer’s Obligation to provide full disclosure at  
sales point 
(R M B Structured Insurance)

The insurer had rejected the insured’s claim on grounds that the 

loss had not been covered in terms of the policy. According to 

Case Studies
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the insurer, they had clearly communicated to the insured what 

was covered and what was not in terms of the policy and the 

insured had taken up the policy with a complete understanding 

of the product.

As most of the disputed points related to what had transpired 

during the sales conversation, the recording was requested and 

listened to.

The Ombudsman’s finding was that the manner in which the 

call had been conducted had been misleading and had not 

placed the insured in a position to properly understand the 

nature and extent of the cover provided in terms of the policy.

The name of the product created the impression that it 

provided comprehensive cover when this was not the case.

While it appeared, at face value, that the insurer had disclosed 

the nature of the product, the manner in which the disclosures 

had been made suggested that the insured was not likely to 

have heard or understood the content of the disclosures. A 

lot of information had been crammed into a short space of 

time which would have made it difficult to understand. Certain 

key words of a misleading nature had been uttered which 

would have led the insured to assume that he would enjoy 

comprehensive cover.

Most of the time when the disclosures were made, a lot of 

peripheral additional benefits provided by the policy were 

also mentioned, which had the propensity to obfuscate the 

shortcomings of the cover provided as the insured’s attention 

would be focused on those peripheral benefits.  

In addition, it appeared that the insured laboured under the 

impression that the 100% settlement referred to by the insurer 

meant he enjoyed 100% cover, which would ordinarily be 

referred to as comprehensive cover. 

The vehicle was still under finance and this had been disclosed 

to the insurer. It should therefore have been clear to the 

insurer that the product would not be suitable under the 

circumstances as the insured needed and was in fact obliged 

to have comprehensive cover in place. Despite this, the insurer 

had offered a clearly unsuitable product. This would be in 

contravention of the obligations imposed by the Policyholder 

Protection Rules, the FAIS Act and the Treating Customers 

Fairly initiative of the Financial Services Board. 

It was also the Ombudsman’s finding that this also flew in the 

face of the insurer’s undertakings in terms of the SAIA Code 

of Conduct.

It had never been clearly disclosed at any point that the product 

did not provide comprehensive cover or that there would be 

no cover if the vehicle was damaged but not written off or that 

most of the losses most likely to be suffered by the insured 

(minor bumper bashings etc.) would not covered. 

It was the Ombudsman’s view that the above would have 

needed to be clearly disclosed and that the insurer had to 

specify that the cover provided would exclude most such 

incidents.

While the insurer may have pointed out the insured that the 

policy documents must be read and understood, it was the 

Ombudsman’s view that the most peculiar characteristics of 

the product should have been highlighted clearly and distinctly 

to enable the insured to make an informed choice whether 

to take up the policy or not at the point of sale. This had not 

been done.

The insurer had subsequently offered to void the policy from 

inception and to refund the insured’s premiums. 

The Ombudsman’s view was that this would not be sufficient 

as it would not amount to a fair and equitable outcome. The 

insured, who had clearly sought cover in order to avoid the 

risk of such losses, would end up without any protection 

whatsoever. It was accordingly recommended that the insurer 

re-consider the matter and review the above offer.

The insurer eventually settled the insured’s claim as if 

comprehensive cover had been provided in terms of the policy.
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Pygmy Falcon and Sociable Weaver
The diminutive Pygmy Falcon almost exclusively lives in the 
nest of the Sociable Weaver, the world’s largest bird nest. These two 
species live together in apparent harmony, with the falcon not depredating 
on the weavers and living on a diet of reptiles and insects. The falcons 
benefit from the favourable microclimate of the nest, and the 
weavers may benefit from the falcons warning them 
of nearby predators.

Sociable Weaver

Pygmy Falcon
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Terms of Reference

1.  Preamble
1.1   The Ombudsman is appointed to serve the interest of 

the insuring public and all short-term Insurers registered 

under the Short-term Insurance Act and including Lloyds.  

The Ombudsman provides, free of charge, an accessible, 

informal and speedy dispute resolution process to Policy 

Holders who have disputes with their Insurers where those 

disputes fall within the Ombudsman’s jurisdiction.

1.2   The Ombudsman acts independently and objectively 

in resolving disputes and is not under instructions from 

anybody when exercising his or her authority.  The 

Ombudsman resolves disputes using the criteria of law, 

equity and fairness.  These Terms of Reference define the 

powers and duties of the Ombudsman.

1.3   The services rendered by the Ombudsman are not the 

same as those rendered by a professional legal advisor and 

are confined purely to resolution in terms of clause 3.1 

below or mediation or conciliation in an attempt to settle 

complaints.

2.  Definitions
In these terms of reference the following expressions have 

the following meanings:

2.1   “the Board” means the Board of Directors of the 

Ombudsman for Short-term Insurance NPC;

2.2   “the Complainant” means any Policy Holder who makes a 

complaint to the Ombudsman in respect of any insurance 

services provided by their Insurer ;

2.3   “Ruling” means, with respect to a complaint, a written 

directive issued by the Ombudsman which is binding on 

Dung Beetle with Dung Ball
Scientists have now concluded that dung beetles role away 

from the dung pile in a straight line in order to quickly 
escape from the competition that occurs near the dung 

pile.  They navigate by reference to the stars and at 
night place their faith in the Milky Way.
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the Insurer and which is based either in law or equity;

2.4   “the Ombudsman” means the Ombudsman for Short-term 

Insurance appointed from time to time by the Board of the 

Ombudsman for Short-term Insurance NPC;

2.5   “Ombudsman’s office” means the office of the Ombudsman 

established to perform the functions set out in these terms 

of reference;

2.6   “Policy” means a short term insurance Policy issued by an 

Insurer to a Policy Holder;

2.7   “Policy Holder” means the person entitled to be provided 

with the Policy benefits under a Policy;

2.8   “Insurer” means a short-term insurer registered as such in 

terms of the Short-term Insurance Act of 1998;

3.  The Ombudsman’s powers and duties
3.1  The Ombudsman shall:

 3.1.1  act within these terms of reference;

 3.1.2   receive complaints relating to the provision within the 

Republic of South Africa of insurance services by an 

Insurer to a Policy Holder;

 3.1.3   resolve such complaints, relating to the provision of 

insurance services, by agreement or by the making 

of a ruling or by such other means as may seem 

expedient, subject to these terms of reference.

3.2   The Ombudsman should advise the public on the 

procedure for making a complaint to the Ombudsman’s 

office and should take such steps as are reasonably possible 

conducive to client and industry education and training.  

The Ombudsman shall in his annual report referred to in  

clause 3.9 below provide details of steps taken in this regard.

3.3   On receipt of a complaint in the prescribed format, the 

Ombudsman will notify the Insurer of the complaint by 

providing the details of the complaint to the Insurer, and the 

Insurer shall then be obliged to give all relevant information 

and assistance required (including documentation 

requested by the Ombudsman) to enable the Ombudsman 

to assess fully the merits of the complaint.

3.4   During any period in which the Ombudsman is unable to 

exercise his duties owing to absence, incapacity or death 

or in a situation where a conflict of interest may arise, the 

Board may appoint a deputy or acting Ombudsman to act 

in place of the Ombudsman.

3.5   The Ombudsman shall have the overall responsibility for 

the conduct of the day to day administration and business 

of the Ombudsman’s office.  The Ombudsman may appoint 

an Administrator to be responsible to him for day to day 

matters of administration of the Ombudsman’s office.

3.6   The Ombudsman shall have the power on behalf of the 

Ombudsman’s office to appoint and dismiss employees, 

consultants, legal experts, independent contractors and 

agents and to determine their salaries, fees, terms of 

employment or engagement.

3.7   The Ombudsman shall have the power to incur expenditure 

on behalf of the Ombudsman’s office in accordance with 

the current financial budget approved by the Board.

3.8   The Ombudsman shall give the Board any information and 

assistance which it reasonably requires, including the making 

of recommendations to the Board on any issues which the 

Ombudsman believes requires the Board’s attention.

3.9   The Ombudsman shall publish an annual report on the 

activities of the office, which shall be published by 30 May 

of each year.  Such report will be available to the public.

4.  The Jurisdiction of the Ombudsman
4.1   The Ombudsman shall only consider a complaint made 

to him if he is satisfied that:

4.1.1  the complaint is not the subject of existing litigation; 

 4.1.2   the complaint is not the subject of an instruction 

to an attorney in contemplation of litigation against 

the relevant Insurer except where the attorney 

has simply assisted the Policy Holder in bringing 

the application to the Ombudsman;

 4.1.3   the complaint does not involve a monetary claim 

in excess of R1000 000, but the Insurer concerned 

may agree in writing to this limitation being 

exceeded.  This R1000 000 limit shall be subject to 

review on an annual basis;

 4.1.4   the complaint is made by a Policy Holder or a duly 

authorised representative of the Policy Holder 

to whom or for whom the insurance services in 

question were provided;

 4.1.5   the complaint relates to any dispute in regard to 

a Policy and/or any Claim or Claims thereunder 

or any dispute in regard to insurance premiums, 

or any dispute on the legal construction of the 

Policy wording relating to a particular complaint 

complying with the requirements of this clause 4.1;

 4.1.6   the Complainant has tried unsuccessfully to resolve 

the dispute through approaches to the Insurer’s 

management or its internal complaints handling 

section;

Terms of Reference
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 4.1.7   the complaint is being pursued reasonably by the 

Complainant and not in a frivolous, vexatious, 

offensive, threatening or abusive manner, as 

the Ombudsman may decide in his or her sole 

discretion;

 4.1.8   the complaint has not become prescribed in terms 

of the Prescription Act, 1969 or any enforceable 

time bar provisions contained in the Policy.

4.2   Should a complaint be lodged with the Ombudsman’s 

office and thereafter the Complainant refers such dispute 

to an attorney for the further conduct of the dispute and/

or direct correspondence with the Insurer, or for litigation, 

then the Ombudsman will immediately withdraw from  

the matter.

4.3   With the written consent of an Insurer and at his discretion 

the Ombudsman may investigate a complaint which 

exceeds his jurisdiction.

4.4   A Complainant may at any time terminate the Ombudsman’s 

adjudication of the complaint and resort to litigation.

5.  Limits on the jurisdiction of the Ombudsman
Subject to these terms of reference, the Ombudsman shall 

have the power to consider a complaint made to him except:

5.1   Where the Ombudsman determines that it is more 

appropriate that the complaint be dealt with by a court of 

law or through any other dispute resolution process;

5.2   Where the matter is already under the consideration by 

the person appointed to adjudicate disputes in terms of 

the Financial Advisory and Intermediary Services Act.

6.  Time Barring Provisions
6.1   Any enforceable time bar clauses in terms of a Policy 

shall not run against a Complainant and shall be 

interrupted during the period that the complaint is under 

consideration before the Ombudsman.  In particular, the 

Insurer waives and abandons all or any rights to rely in 

subsequent litigation on any time barring provisions in the 

Policy applying to the commencement of litigation after 

rejection of a claim, or after the happening forming the 

subject of the claim or after notification of the claim.  In 

the event of the complaint being finalised in the office of 

the Ombudsman the Complainant shall have 30 (thirty) 

days or the remaining period of the time bar provision of 

the relevant policy, whichever is the longer, within which to 

institute proceedings against the relevant Insurer, provided 

however, that the Claim had not already become time 

barred in terms of the Policy when the complaint was 

received by the Ombudsman.

6.2   For the purposes of clause 6.1, the time during which a 

matter is before the Ombudsman shall (provided that the 

complaint is accepted for adjudication) commence on the 

day that it is lodged with the Ombudsman’s office to the 

time that the Ombudsman dismisses the complaint or 

makes a Ruling.  

6.3   Save as may be otherwise provided in any other legislation 

relating to or governing the Ombudsman, the lodging of 

any complaint with the Ombudsman shall in no way affect 

the running of prescription in terms of the Prescription 

Act, 1969 in respect of such complaint.

7.  Rulings
7.1   When all the material facts are agreed or the facts have been 

established to the Ombudsman’s satisfaction on a balance 

of probabilities, the Ombudsman may make a Ruling.

7.2  Rulings shall be based on the law and equity.

7.3   Where a material fact cannot be established or cannot be 

resolved on a clear balance of probabilities the Ombudsman 

may not make a Ruling.  In such cases the Ombudsman 

shall advise the Complainant that the complaint is not one 

on which he or she can assist and that alternative recourse 

may be sought through the courts.

7.4   Any Ruling made by the Ombudsman shall be binding on 

the Insurer concerned.

8.  Policy holder/complainant’s rights
  The Policy Holder/Complainant’s rights to institute 

proceedings in any competent court of law against the 

Insurer shall not be affected by any of the provisions of 

these terms of reference provided that, if the Policy Holder/

Complainant institutes proceedings while the complaint is 

under investigation by the Ombudsman, the provisions of 

clause 4.2 shall apply.

9.  Precedents
  Rulings shall not establish any precedent in the Ombudsman’s 

office.
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10.  Confidentiality
10.1   The Ombudsman shall as far as possible, maintain confidentiality unless the 

parties concerned expressly exempt him or her from that duty and the duty shall 

continue after the termination of his or her services.  The duty of confidentiality 

shall however, not prevent the Ombudsman from;

 10.1.1  Publishing details of rulings made by him or her;

 10.1.2   Reporting on details of rulings, or furnishing statistical information in 

connection with the workings of the office to the South African Insurance 

Association (SAIA), the Financial Services Board (FSB), the National 

Treasury or any other body or organisation which may be entitled to 

receive such information from the Ombudsman in connection with his/her 

activities and/or which may have a legitimate interest in such information, 

having regard to its statutory mandate, role as an industry association or 

otherwise;

 10.1.3    Publishing statistics and related information in the Annual Report of the 

association concerning complaints received by the Ombudsman against 

members of the association as approved by the Board of the Ombudsman 

for Short-Term Insurance from time to time;

 10.1.4   Filing, either on behalf of the association or any complainant from whom a 

complaint is received, a complaint with SAIA in connection with any Code 

of Conduct applicable to or adopted by that association and which may be 

applicable to any member of the association.

10.2   The Insurer and the Complainant shall not be entitled to make use of any 

information which comes to their knowledge as a result of the intervention of the 

Ombudsman during the course of any investigation by him or her.

10.3   A complaint will be regarded as confidential as between the Policy Holder, the 

Insurer and the Ombudsman and it is for the Ombudsman to decide what should 

be disclosed to the Insurer and/or the Policy Holder.

10.4   Documents brought into being as a result of any approach to the Ombudsman 

shall not be liable to disclosure or be the subject of a discovery order or subpoena 

in the event of any legal proceedings between the Complainant and the Insurer.

10.5   The Ombudsman or any member of his staff will not be liable to be subpoenaed 

to give evidence on the subject of a complaint in any proceedings.

11.  Complaints not settled in defined period
  The Ombudsman shall report to the Board all complaints, which have not been 

completed in one or way or another within a time, laid down by the Board.  This 

time period shall initially be set at 6 (six) months calculated from the date that a 

complaint became an accepted complaint.

Terms of Reference

“The Ombudsman 

is appointed 

to serve the 

interest of the 

insuring public 

and all short-term 

Insurers registered 

under the Short-

term Insurance 

Act and including 

Lloyds.”  
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John Myburgh SC
Chairman
Independent Director
Chairman: Ombudsman for Banking Services, former Judge

Wendy Knowler
Vice Chairman
Consumer Director
Consumer Journalist

Leigh Bennie
Consumer Director
Consumer Journalist

Thuli Zungu
Consumer Director
Consumer journalist

Paul Crankshaw
Consumer Director
Deputy Chairman of National Consumer Forum

Richard Steyn
Independent Director
Former Editor of The Natal Witness and of The Star

Gail Walters
Industry Director
Head: Group Corporate Affairs  •  The Hollard Insurance Company 
Limited

Gerhard Genis (inset)
Industry Director
Head: Quality Management  •  Santam Insurance Limited

Robert Semenya
Industry Director
Head: Legal & Compliance  •  Nedgroup Insurance Company 
Limited

Jonathan Dixon
Ex-Officio Director
Deputy Executive Officer, Insurance  •  Financial Services Board

Barry Scott
Ex-Officio Director
Chief Executive  •  The South African Insurance Association

Members of the Board of Directors

From left to right:  Thuli Zungu, Gail Walters, Leigh Bennie, Paul Crankshaw, Wendy Knowler, Jonathan Dixon, Robert Semenya,  
John Myburgh, Barry Scott, Richard Steyn, Gerhard Genis (inset)
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Absa Insurance Company Limited

Ace Insurance 

AIG Insurance

Alexander Forbes Insurance Company

Allianz Global Corporate

Auto & General Insurance Company

Bidvest Insurance Limited 

Budget Insurance Company Limited 
(Formerly Unity Insurance)

Centriq Insurance Company (RF) Limited

Compass Insurance Company Limited

Constantia Insurance Company Limited

Customer Protection Insurance 

Dial Direct Insurance  Limited

Discovery Insurance

Emerald Insurance Company Limited

Etana Insurance Company Limited

First for Woman Insurance Company Limited

Genric Insurance Company Limited

Guardrisk Insurance Company Limited

Hollard Insurance Company 

Indequity Specialised Insurance Limited

Infiniti Insurance

JDG Micro Insurance Limited

King Price Insurance Limited

Legal Expenses Southern Africa Limited

Lion of Africa 

Lloyds

Lombard Insurance Limited

MiWay Insurance Limited

Momentum ST Insurance Company Limited

Monarch Insurance Company Limited

Mutual & Federal Insurance Company Limited

Natsure

Nedgroup Insurance Company 

New National Assurance Company Limited

NMS Insurance Services (SA) Limited

Oakhurst Insurance Company Limited

Old Mutual Health Insurance Limited

Outsurance 

R M B Structured Insurance Limited

Regent Insurance

Relyant Insurance Company Limited

Renasa Insurance Company Limited

SAFIRE Insurance Company Limited

SAHL Insurance  Company Limited

Santam Limited

SASRIA SOC LIMITED

Saxum Insurance

Shoprite Insurance Company Limited

Standard Insurance Limited

Unitrans 

Vodacom 

Western National Insurance Limited

Zurich Insurance Company Limited

Members of the Ombudsman Scheme

Ostriches and Zebras
Zebras have poor eye sight and Ostriches have poor hearing and smell. These two have formed a symbiotic 

relationship through communicating and warning each other of danger.



Staff of the Ombudsman

Ombudsman

Dennis Jooste

Deputy Ombudsman

Edite Teixeira-McKinon

Senior Assistant Ombudsmen 

Darpana Harkison

Peter Nkhuna

Assistant Ombudsmen

Adriaan Lombard

Ayanda Mazwi

Dharmita Jogee

Hannes Bester

Johan Janse van Rensburg

John Theunissen

Nosipho Mfeka

Thasnim Dawood

Valerie Mngadi

Operations Manager/Company 

Secretary

Miriam Matabane

Bookkeeper/Office Manager

Azeht du Plessis

Call Centre Manager

Anastatia Ngidi-Mkhwanazi

Call Centre Supervisor

Selinah Phakoe

Call Centre Consultants

Jo-Anne Goqo

Louisah Letlhabe

Mary Tshabalala

Melissa van Zyl

Accounts Assistant 

Vantera Joseph

Personal Assistant to the Ombudsman 

and Deputy Ombudsman 

Karinien Kok

Secretarial

Aadielah Human

Brumilda Blignaut

Claudia Kampmann

Jane Farnan

Joanne Sergel

Katia Lo Drago

Leonie Budricks

Linda Van der Vyver

Michelle Grobler

Monica Bolgann

Sharon Anderson

Receptionist

Gadija Fisher

Clerical

Mavis Mabaso

Sibongile Gumede

Office Cleaner/Clerical Assistant

Mariam Khampepe
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Useful information about other offices

BirdLife South Africa
BirdLife South Africa is the only dedicated bird conservation NGO in South Africa and its work focuses on the protection of our country’s 
birds and their habitats. In order to do this important work, BirdLife South Africa needs support from people and companies who care 
about the environment (see www.birdlife.org.za, 011 789 1122).

Photograph acknowledgements
Our appreciation is expressed to the following photographers who kindly allowed us to publish some of their photographs in the  
Annual Report:   
African Penguin by Assoc. Prof. Peter Ryan; Southern Carmine Bee Eater, African Sacred Ibis and Cape Vulture by Mr Albert Froneman 
(www.wildlifephotography.co.za); Cuckoo egg in nest of Kurrichane Thrush by Dr Warwick Tarboton; Red-billed Oxpecker, Pygmy Falcon, 
Sociable Weaver and weaver nest, Orange-breasted Sunbird and Pale Chanting Goshawk by Mr Mark D. Anderson. 
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1. Ombudsman for Long-Term Insurance
 Private Bag X45, Claremont 7735

 Telephone: 021 657 5000

 Sharecall: 0860 103 236

 Fax: 021 674 0951

 E-mail: info@ombud.co.za

2. The Statutory Ombudsman
 PO Box 74571, Lynnwoodridge, 0040

 Sharecall: 0860 324 766

 Telephone: 012 470 9080

 Fax: 012 348 3447

 Email: info@faisombud.co.za

3. The Ombud for Financial Service Providers
 PO Box 74571, Lynnwoodridge, 0040

 Sharecall: 0860 324 766

 Telephone: 012 470 9080

 Fax: 012 348 3447

 Email: info@faisombud.co.za

4. The Ombudsman for Banking Services
 PO Box 87056, Houghton, 2041

 Sharecall: 0860 800 900

 Telephone: 011 712 1800

 Fax: 011 483 3212

 Email: info@obssa.co.za

5. The Credit Ombud
 P O Box 805, Pinegowrie, 2123

 Call Centre: 0861 622 837

 Fax: 0866 834 644

 Email: ombud@creditombud.org.za

6. The Pension Funds Adjudicator
 P O Box 580, Menlyn, 0063

 Telephone: 012 346 1738

 Fax: 086 693 7472

 Email: enquiries@pfa.org.za

7. The National Credit Regulator
 PO Box 2209, Halfway House, Midrand, 1685

 Call Centre: 0860 627 627

 Fax: 011 805 4905

 Email: complaints@ncr.org.za

 Telephone: 011 554 2600

8. Public Protector
 Private Bag X677, Pretoria, 0001

 Telephone: 012 366 7000

 

9. The Financial Services Board
 PO Box 35655, Menlo Park, 0102

 Toll-free: 0800 110 443 or 0800 202 087

 Telephone: 012 428 8000

 Fax: 012 346 6941

 Email: info@fsb.co.za

10. Financial Ombudsman Call Centre
 Sharecall: 0860OMBUDS/0860662837



Share Call Number:  0860 726 890
Telephone:  011 726-8900
Facsimile:  011 726-5501
Email:  info@osti.co.za
Website:  http://www.osti.co.za

Sunnyside Office Park, 5th Floor, Building D
32 Princess of Wales Terrace,

Parktown, Johannesburg

P O Box 32334, Braamfontein, 2017

CONTACT US




